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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present to our shareholders the annual report of
China Pipe Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s revenue of about HK$783.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$714.1 million), representing
an increase of 9.7% as compared to last year. The gross profit
margin was approximately 31.5% for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: 27.3%). The profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company was HK$87.2 million for the year under
review (2023: HK$58.4 million), representing an increase of
49.3% over last year. Basic earnings per share was HK6.55 cents
(2023: HK4.38 cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors of the Company does not recommend a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has achieved another year of record-high sales during
the year under review. The Group recorded revenue amounted
to approximately HK$783.5 million (2023: HK$714.1 million),
representing an increase of 9.7% over last year. During the year,
we achieved another year of outstanding performance, reflecting
the strength of our core business and the strong demand of
our products. Our performance was bolstered by the Hong
Kong Government’s proactive housing policy. In addition, the
unexpected flow of urgent orders to our company during the
year also increased our sales. This surge in demand reflected not
only the trust our customers place in us but also our ability to
respond swiftly and effectively to their needs. The steady inflow
of interest income also supported the overall performance. The
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$87.2
million, as compared to a net profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company of approximately HK$58.4 million for the same
period in 2023, representing an increase of 49.3%.
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Chairman’s Statement
EN T80

The year was marked by the full-scale execution of supplying
pipes and fittings to several large-scale infrastructure projects,
including the expansion of the Hong Kong International Airport
and the development of the Central Kowloon Route. We also
launched several new products that have significantly enhanced
our product coverage, allowing us to meet the diverse needs of
our customers and strengthen our market position. These new
products underscore our commitment to staying ahead of industry
trends and delivering value to our customers.

To maintain our competitive edge and provide more convenient
location to our customers, we relocated our Macau shop to a
new and larger location. This strategic decision aligned with our
commitment to providing an improved shopping experience,
better accessibility, and a more inviting retail environment for our
customers.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

As the economy has still not fully recovered, the business
environment is more competitive and challenging. We
acknowledge the challenges posed by the shortage of labor and
rising prices. We will maintain a cautious approach to our core
business. We are confident, however, that our strong foundation
and proactive approach will enable us to navigate these challenges
effectively.

As we look to the future, we are optimistic about the
opportunities that lie ahead. Given the Hong Kong Government’s
support and continued investment in public housing and
infrastructure projects, coupled with the anticipated growth in the
industry, bodes well for our future prospects. We will continue
to consolidate our strengths and continue to capitalize on the
opportunities that arise.
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APPRECIATION

In closing, we thank our shareholders, customers, suppliers
and banks for their continuous support and confidence in the
Group. | would also like to thank our directors, management
team and employees for their commendable efforts and valuable
contribution to the Group over the years.

Lai Fulin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Mission And Strategy
ol i B2 SR s

The business of the Group was commenced in 1949 as a pipe’s
retail shop. Now the Group has developed into a sizeable
company and become a listed company in the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 21 December 2000. We
root in Hong Kong 75 years and are the mainstay of the industry.

The principal business of the Group is the importing and selling
of a comprehensive range of pipes, fittings and other related
accessories of different materials, applications and brand names in
Hong Kong by Bun Kee (International) Limited (“Bun Kee"). Sales
of the Group’s products are conducted either by wholesale or
retail sale. We offered quality goods storage and logistic services
for local main contractors and landlords. Throughout the years,
the Group has supplied quality piping materials to many landmark
projects in Hong Kong, Macau and Mainland China.

The mission of the Group is to provide high quality products to
the customers and serve with value-added and excellent customer
services.

In attaining the above, we provide “one-stop-shop” platform that
provides high quality and a variety of pipes and fittings that readily
available to our customers in ways that meet their needs and

exceed their expectations.

Whenever you think pipes and fittings, think Bun Kee.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

Our Business

The Group is a leading provider to the construction sector offering
a wide range of pipe (including copper tube, ductile iron and
steel pipes) related products, fittings, comprehensive services
and solutions to the contractors, designers, consultants and
government agencies in Hong Kong and Macau.

The Group's core business lies with our flagship subsidiary, Bun
Kee (International) Limited, a well-established company with a
long history. Starting from a small retail shop, we grew up to a
company listed in Hong Kong. We have become one-stop supplier
of a comprehensive range of pipes and fittings. The Group has
built a good reputation for the pipes and fittings business in Hong
Kong and Macau. We have established stable major customer and
supplier bases over the years.

Business Review

Thanks to all staff’s contribution and effort, the Group achieved
good performance during the year. This year, we achieved
another year of record-high sales. This accomplishment was
primarily attributable to the Group's participation in supplying
pipes and fittings to various government’s public housing projects
and infrastructure projects, improvement in product mix and more
cost-effective procurement practices.

The Group continued to offer comprehensive product coverage to
our customers. In recent years, the growing adoption of Modular
Integrated Construction (“MiC”) and Multi-trade Integrated MEP
("MIiMEP") enhanced contractors to improve the construction
processes’s efficiency and cost-effectiveness. We can meet the
needs of our customers in this regard.

The Group's revenue increased by 9.7% to HK$783.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$714.1 million). The
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was HK$87.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$58.4
million), representing an increase of 49.3%.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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For the year under review, other gains, net were about HK$0.08
million (2023: HK$1.2 million), representing a decrease of HK$1.1
million over last year. The decrease was mainly due to there was
significant decrease of exchange gain.

The Group's selling and distribution costs increased by 5.0%
year-on-year from HK$24.0 million in 2023 to HK$25.2 million
in 2024. The increase was primarily attributable to the increase
in sales commission, motor vehicles running expenses and direct
logistic staff costs which were partly offset by the decrease in
consultancy fee and transportation costs. The Group’s general and
administrative expenses amounted to approximately HK$124.1
million in 2024 (2023: HK$109.2 million), representing an increase
of about 13.6% year-on-year. The increase was mainly due to
the increase in staff costs, depreciation, depreciation on right-
of-use assets, rates and building services, testing fees, computer
maintenance expenses and motor vehicles expenses which were
partly offset by the decrease in professional fees.

The provision for impairment of financial assets were HK$5.3
million for the year in 2024 (2023: HK$0.05 million), the increase
was due to higher receivables risk as individual trade receivables
were assessed for impairment individually.

Finance costs mainly consisted of the interest expenses on bank
borrowings and lease liabilities. During the year, the finance costs
were HK$7.0 million (2023: HK$6.7 million), representing an
increase by about 4.5% over last year. Such increase was mainly
attributable to the increase in interest rates on bank borrowings.
Finance income which was mainly from a loan to a related party
and bank deposits’ interest income, increased by 19.2% from
HK$13.0 million in 2023 to HK$15.5 million in 2024 due to the
increase in fixed deposits principal. As finance income outpaced
costs, we recorded net finance income of HK$8.5 million (2023:
HK$6.2 million).

OUTLOOK

With a solid foundation and in a stable financial position,
the Group is well-positioned to benefit from the Hong Kong
Government’s commitment to increasing the public housing
supply and developing major infrastructure projects. This is why
we remain cautiously optimistic about Hong Kong'’s construction
industry. The ongoing development of the Northern Metropolis
and the Hong Kong government’s commitment to accelerate
housing supply are positive indicators for future growth.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2024, the cash and cash equivalents of the
Group were approximately HK$282.0 million (2023: HK$228.1
million). Basically the Group’s working capital requirement has
been financed by its internal resources. The funds generated from
operations and the available banking facilities will enable the
Group to meet its future working capital requirements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities for trade finance of approximately HK$262.3 million
(2023: HK$312.3 million), approximately HK$62.1 million (2023:
HK$66.5 million) was utilised. The Group’s total borrowings stood
at approximately HK$50.5 million (2023: HK$62.2 million), the
entire amount of borrowings for both years end will mature within
one year. 18% (2023: 36%) and 82% (2023: 64%) of borrowings
were subject to floating and fixed rates respectively.

The gearing ratio as measured by total bank borrowings to total
equity was approximately 6.2% as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
8.5%).

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the entire amount of the
Group's borrowings was denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group conducts its business transactions mainly in Hong Kong
dollar, Macau Pataca, Renminbi and United States dollar. In order
to manage foreign exchange risk, the Group has been closely
monitoring its foreign currency exposure and will arrange for any
hedging facilities if necessary.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, certain bank deposits held by
subsidiaries of the Group with aggregate carrying amounts of
approximately HK$46.0 million (2023: bank deposits of HK$46.0
million) were pledged to banks for banking facilities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2024 and 2023.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have capital
commitments (2023: Nil) contracted for but not provided for in
consolidated financial statements.

STAFF AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 174 full-
time employees (2023: 164). Total employee benefit expenses for
the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately HK$88.6
million (2023: HK$75.9 million).

Remuneration policy is reviewed annually and certain staff
members are entitled to sales commission. In addition to the basic
salaries and contributions to the mandatory provident fund, the
Group also pays discretionary bonus and provides staff with other
benefits including medical scheme to the employees in Hong
Kong. The Group contributes to an employee pension scheme
established by the PRC Government which undertakes to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of the Group in Mainland China. The Group adopted a
share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to motivate the eligible directors and employees of the
Group in recognition of their contributions to the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lai Fulin, aged 59, acted as an Executive Director of the
Company from October 2009 to May 2017 and continued to sit
on the senior management team of the Group thereafter. Mr.
Lai rejoined the Board as an Executive Director of the Company
on 27 November 2017 and was appointed as the Chairman
of the Board with effect from 30 March 2018 and was re-
designated as co-chairman on 1 July 2024 and was re-designated
as Chairman on 4 November 2024. He is also the Chairman
of Nomination Committee and a member of Remuneration
Committee of the Company. In addition, Mr. Lai is the Head of
Production & Purchasing of the Group and holds directorships in
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lai has over 20 years of
experience in the banking sector, investment management and
general management of companies in China. Mr. Lai worked in
the Bank of China in Shenzhen from 1986 to 2001. From 1995 to
2001, he was the deputy general manager of a subsidiary of Bank
of China dealing with businesses in the securities industry. During
the period from 2002 to 2008, Mr. Lai was the general manager
of Shenzhen Huaao Guanli Technologies Company Limited* (%
YITHERTHRHREEAGMRAF]). Mr. Lai holds a certificate
of graduation in Chinese Language from Shenzhen Institute of
Education* (&I B E67).

Mr. Lai is the younger brother of Mr. Lai Guanglin, the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

*  For identification purpose only

Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng, aged 60, was appointed as Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company in May 2009.
Mr. Yu is responsible for managing overall daily operations of
the Group and the implementation of the Group’s development
strategies.

Mr. Yu has over 20 years of experience in investment
management, investment banking and general management of
listed companies. Mr. Yu began his career at Mackenzie Financial
Corporation in Toronto, Canada as an investment analyst in 1989
and since then, he has served several major financial corporations
including J.P. Morgan, Deutsche Bank and CITIC Capital. In
addition to his vast investment banking and management
experience, Mr. Yu has also managed listed companies such
as New World Cyberbase Limited and Asia Logistics Holdings
Limited in Hong Kong. During his past career, Mr. Yu has focused
on direct investment and mergers and acquisitions activities in
sectors including construction materials, infrastructure, energy,
technologies, media and financial services.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

HPERRBEHANBZERE

Mr. Yu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in English Literature from
the Beijing Foreign Studies University, a Master of arts degree in
Education from the University of Toronto and a master’s degree
in business administration from the University of Western Ontario,
Canada.

Mr. Yu is a director of King Jade Holdings Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company which has an interest in the shares of
the Company that is required to be disclosed under Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson, aged 57, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in February
2009. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and member of Australia
CPA. He holds a master of commerce degree, specializing in
banking and finance from the University of New South Wales.
With more than 20 years of experience in PricewaterhouseCoopers
and Ernst and Young, Mr. Wong specializes in the area of auditing
banks and listed companies. He was an independent non-
executive director of Ping An Securities Group (Holdings) Limited
(Stock code: 231, a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“HKSE")) from February 2020 to November
2022. He is now an independent non-executive director of PT
International Development Corporation Limited (Stock code: 372,
a company listed on HKSE).

Mr. Chen Wei Wen, aged 56, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2010. He is also
a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Chen holds
a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) from Monash University,
Australia. Mr. Chen worked as a general manager of Guangzhou
Futian Trading Company Ltd (EMTERE S ERAF) from
1997 to 2005. Since November 2004, Mr. Chen was appointed as
chief operating officer of Guangzhou Kanxin Polymer Technology
Co., Ltd (EMWELED TEHE AR A A which is an affiliated
company of Guangzhou Futian Trading Company Ltd (BEMTE
WNE S HERZAF]). Mr. Chen was also appointed as director and
general manager of Fuda Enterprises Limited (& mMEMZESGR A
A]) since February 1998.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Guan Zhigiang, aged 62, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in September 2016.
He is also the Chairman of Remuneration Committee, a
member of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Guan holds a bachelor of Agronomy from
Huazhong Agricultural University and a master degree in business
administration from Southwestern University of Finance. During
the period from 1984 to 1996, Mr. Guan had successively worked
in the Ministry of Agriculture of the People’s Republic of China
and the State Planning Commission. He subsequently joined
the Agricultural Development Bank of China and held various
senior management positions and was granted a qualification of
senior economist from the bank. From February 2002 to March
2003, Mr. Guan served as the general manager in New China
Life Insurance Company Ltd, Jinan branch. From March 2003
to November 2005, he worked in Yeland Group Co. Ltd. (now
known as HNA Investment Group Co., Ltd), a company listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and was appointed as the chairman
of its group’s real estate company. Since 2005, Mr. Guan has
established an investment advisory firm and invested in a number
of enterprises which engaged in various fields including mining,
energy and biotechnology, etc., and acted as a director in those
enterprises. Mr. Guan is currently the vice chairman of Zhejiang
Ecopro Biotech Company, Ltd. *(4T T EFEMEHE AR A 7)) and
a director of Huoerguosi Poly Entertainment Culture Industry Co.,
Lid* (ERRIABR BRI EZEBMR A R]). He has extensive
experience in finance, investment and corporate management.

*  For identification purpose only

L AT Rl YN = i)

EERBEE 625 R-ZT—"FNLAEZ
FARRBIZBUIIENTES - FHAER
RAHFMEZESERE BREESRIREELEE
EKE c ELAERBAETREABRBE 4
B RTERABTIEERELTEM - B
—hWN\EEE—ANNESRRE > EhErk
ERRPEAREMBEEESRERTEZ
Bg  BEEMATRREFRRITIETS
ERREE A BBSMEZETE FaRE
EER NEE_F_AZE_FTT=F
=R BREEAHEASREBEROERA
AIEMOARBEE RIEE=F=A=
“EERE+ A RERHREERDAR
NEGREEMEEBERHER AR (—K
FRYEHRZ ST LT AE]) TIEWEZE
ERIABETEHEAANEER - A%
TRER  BEEERTI —FTREZADFL
DR ESRLE  (TEREEVREEE - &
BREVRESS  THIZECENES
B  EALBEEANIEEEMREAR
AAIMBEERMERRNTFR LR ULE
X¥ERNBIMNES - FEom  WE - 0%
EEEHABELEMNLR

|

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 # #

15



16

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

HPERRBEHANBZERE

Mr. Wang Chaolong, aged 65, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2023. He
is a member of Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Wang holds
a Bachelor of Science in Physics from Peking University First
Campus*(It RKEE —5). Mr. Wang holds a certificate
of Certified Assets Manager issued by China Enterprise
Confederation in 2010 and qualified as a senior economist in
China Xinxing (Group) Corporation* (/BT (5£[F) 22 7)) in
2000. He has extensive experience in corporate management.

Mr. Wang served as an assistant/lecturer of Beijing Machinery
Bureau Staff University*(Jb T4 B8k T K Z) from March
1983 to April 1991. He served as an engineer at the Science and
Technology Bureau of China State Shipbuilding Corporation*(#
B 24 A FRHRE) from May 1991 to February 1994.
He served as a manager of the Operation Department of Beijing
Zhongchuan Gas Engineering Development Company* (1t &/ fit
REET2F3 A A48 2 36) from March 1994 to December 1994,

From December 1994 to May 1999, he served as division chief
and deputy division chief in investment department of China
Xinxing Industrial Development Company™*(F [ ¥7 & & % 2%
A "]) and served as vice general manager in China Xinxing
Industrial Development Company*(H Bl & % 25 & 2 &) from
June 1996 to October 1999. Mr. Wang served as a vice general
manager of China Xinxing Construction Real Estate Development
Corporation*(FE M TIREZEFWEMZEBL A E]) from
November 1999 to December 2001. From December 2001 to
June 2013, he served in China Xinxing Industrial Development
Company* (R Bl ¥ EL T 2 E A 7)), currently known as China
Xinxing Asset Management Company Limited* (7 B #7#& &
EEARETAR), including general manager and executive
deputy general manager. Mr. Wang has been the chairman of
Shanghai Xinxing Medicine Co. Ltd.*(_t- /&7 B2 BEpE (3 A R A 7)
from July 2013 to September 2021.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Zheng Yang, aged 53, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in December 2024. She is
also a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. She
holds a bachelor of Economics degree (major in Auditing) from
Nankai University, and a Master of Economics degree from Tianjin
University of Finance and Economics. Ms. Zheng admitted a
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("CICPA") and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
("ACCA") in 1995 and 2003 respectively. She is now ceased to be
a member of CICPA and ACCA.

She has experience in accounting, corporate finance, risk
management and internal controls. In September 2020, Ms.
Zheng founded a company, named 1t REA K B E R B R
A A]* in Beijing, China and since then, Ms. Zheng has served as
an independent advisory consultant and the general manager.
From 2014 to April 2020, she served as an educational advisory
consultant. From 2008 to 2014, she concurrently served as vice
chief executive officer, chief financial officer and chief investment
officer in Weiming Education Group* (&FAZE 5% E), and was
responsible for financial, legal, investment and risk management
for 23 educational institutions under Weiming Education Group.

*  For identification purpose only

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chow Wai Koon, Timothy, aged 55, was appointed as Chief
Operating Officer of the Company in January 2015. Mr. Chow
is responsible for directing, administering and co-ordinating the
operational activities of the Group. He is also responsible for
recommending and developing strategies, goals and policies of
the Group.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chow devoted almost 20 years
to Hewlett-Packard group (“HP”), a leading global IT provider of
products, technologies, software, solutions and services. While at
HP, Mr. Chow held several senior positions in sales, marketing,
business planning and finance in the Asia Pacific region including
China, Australia and Singapore.

Mr. Chow has extensive experience in sales and marketing in
the Asia Pacific region, particularly China, across consumer,
commercial and enterprise customers. In addition, Mr. Chow
has robust knowledge of end-to-end systems from research
and development, manufacturing and distribution to channel,
communication and customer support.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

HPERRBEHANBZERE

Mr. Chow holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration
from the Macquarie Graduate School of Management, Australia,
and a Bachelor’s Degree of Accountancy from the Nanyang
Technological University, Singapore.

Mr. Cheng Siu Kwan, aged 55, joined the Company as the
Financial Controller in December 2012 and has been appointed
as the Company Secretary of the Company in February 2013.
Mr. Cheng is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Cheng held various finance positions at a number of companies
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and has over
30 years of experience in auditing, finance and accounting.

Mr. Ku Chun Ming, aged 59, joined the Group in 1993
and currently is the Deputy Managing Director of Bun Kee
(International) Limited, the pipe trading subsidiary of the Group.
Mr. Ku is mainly responsible for the leadership, supervision and
long-term business development of pipes and fittings of the
Company. He has over 38 years of extensive experience in sales
and marketing activities.

Mr. Tang Chik Loi, aged 51, joined the Group in 2001 and
currently is the Sales Director of the pipe trading subsidiary,
Bun Kee (International) Limited. Mr. Tang has over 22 years of
experience in piping business. He is responsible for the Group’s
business development and marketing, sourcing new customers,
maintaining and strengthening relationship with customers.
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China Pipe Group Limited (the “Company”) is committed to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance. The board
of directors of the Company (the “Board”) and management
maintain and enhance the policies and practices of the Company
on a timely, transparent, effective and reasonable manner, so as
to maintain good, solid and reasonable corporate governance. The
Company believes that good corporate governance is not only in
the interest of shareholders and investors but also in the interest
of the Company. The Company will continue to raise the standard
to formalize the best practice of corporate governance as far as
we could.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code") as stated in Appendix
C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognises that a healthy corporate culture is vital for
the Group to achieve its vision and mission towards sustainable
growth. Throughout the years, the Group is committed to
developing a prudent corporate culture in managing financial
resources. This is reflected in our healthy financial position and
long history of operation. The Group believes that the culture
of treating our employees and customers well and with respect
and assuming our responsibilities is a triple-win situation for the
employees, customers and the Group in the long term. To achieve
this, the Group attaches great importance to conducting its
business honestly and with integrity at all times. The Group has
put in place a whistle-blowing policy and anti-corruption policy
in order to develop a culture of openness, accountability and
integrity. The Group will continue to foster its culture that is built
on its vision, mission and values.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rule (the “Model Code"”). Having made specific
enquiry with the directors of the Company (“Directors”), all
Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the
required standard as set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven Directors,
including two executive Directors, Mr. Lai Fulin (the Chairman of
the Board) and Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng (the Chief Executive Officer);
and five independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Wong Yee
Shuen, Wilson, Mr. Chen Wei Wen, Mr. Guan Zhigiang, Mr.
Wang Chaolong and Ms. Zheng Yang, one of whom namely, Mr.
Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson has appropriate professional accounting
experience and expertise. Biographical details of the Directors
are set out in the section headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT" of this Annual Report.

Throughout the year, the Board has at least one-third in number
of its members comprising independent non-executive Directors
under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

Each of the non-executive Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) has entered into a service contract with
the Company and appointed for a term of one year. All Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the bye-laws
of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that they are
independent.

To the best knowledge of the Company, except that Mr. Lai Fulin is
the younger brother of Mr. Lai Guanglin, a substantial shareholder
of the Company, there is no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) among
members of the Board.

The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the
management of the business and affairs; to approve the strategic
plans, investment and funding decision; to review the Group’s
financial performance and operating initiatives. The Board, led by
the Chairman, is responsible for formulating overall strategy and
polices, monitoring and controlling the performance of the Group.
In addition to its overall supervisory role, the Board also retains
specific responsibilities such as approving financial accounts,
approving annual budget, recommending dividend payments,
approving policies relating to the Board’s compliance, etc. whilst
managing the Group’s day-to-day operations is the responsibility
of the management of the Group (the “Management”) such as
implementing internal control, business strategies and plans set by
the Board, etc.. When the Board delegates certain aspects of its
management and administration functions to the Management, it
has given clear directions as to the powers of the Management.
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Independence

The Company has put in place mechanism to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board and such mechanism
will be reviewed annually by the Board. The Board has balance of
skills, knowledge and experience appropriate for the requirements
of the business and to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy. The Board membership is covered by professionally
qualified and widely experienced personnel to bring in valuable
contributions and different professional advices and consultancy
for development of the Company. All Directors have separate
and independent access to the advice and services of the senior
management and the company secretary with a view to ensuring
the board procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed. All Directors have independent access to external
independent professional advice from legal advisers and auditor
at the Company’s expense. All Directors are encouraged to speak
their views in an open and candid manner during the Board or
Board committees’ meetings. Any director (including independent
non-executive director) who has material interest in any contract,
transaction or arrangement shall abstain from voting on any Board
resolution approving the same. No equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements will be granted to independent
non-executive directors.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director has received comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment so as to ensure
that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or
updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company'’s performance, position and prospects to enable the
Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

Corporate Governance Report

(e ogiit ity

bt VA

ARRERIBEES - NEREFSAE
BBURRMES EFe8E8FRIA
Ak  c EFSABRERH LEENMHER
T3 - B LEBARL S AR A A RIRER
EFEENEREABEXRERKERER
AL BARBZBREHERTABZXEER K
R WIEHERER - TEESRHABTT
BRBUGEEBESRERABRARNE
DSz LIRS - BARRETESTER
F ARMBERRURES - REESEA
SYEEBRRZEMEINEB LA LHE
XER  BRABARAAE FEBAEES
HEZENEFTRE R LABMM AL
RER - HBEFAR XPALHFTHEE
AMENEMESR (BREBILFATES)
AR EZFEENERNERTSRARNE
BE - BT 2RBUFATESERETARS
BB E R 2 ABAE RER 2 2 -

HEEXRRE

EHEEFCRZEREX2H EARR
mm&R ARSI AERESHAEEER
REBEERETH Yx2PAARRLETR
A ERRMABEEERERTZEME -

EEEHEASERED - RRRRGIZE
FISRFTARA

BEAN - BEIREREAR BRI « AR R AT
SNERAEHEN  UREFSBRELRE
EEITER

|

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 # #

21



22

Corporate Governance Report
BB

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the Code on Directors’ training. During the
year, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending seminars and/or reading materials on
the following topics to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills and provided a record of training to the Company.

EEne

Name of Directors

Mr. Lai Fulin TR

EXwER RECETARESEIIZTA
[FXEC .41 - RAFE  2BEFEZ
HEEERRR S ARKFEABUTEE
ZERE R RBEME - UBRREHR
F2 BB - WERAR BRI

Topics on training covered "%

R 2 s

BRRTE (R-F-—F

Mr. Lai Guanglin (Appointed on 1 July 2024

and resigned on 4 November 2024) +— A9 H FFHT)

Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng BMRETE
Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson \mAERAE
Mr. Chen Wei Wen PRIE X S
Mr. Guan Zhigiang ELRESE
Mr. Wang Chaolong FHRERE

Ms. Zheng Yang (Appointed on

18 December 2024) +=—HA+NHZE)

Notes: Kiet -

C: hEER

F: A R &5

L ETARAI8YE 3T

R: EiBR AR A E T

C: Corporate Governance

F: Finance and Accounting

L: Listing Rules Updates

R: Other Relevant Regulatory Updates

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The position of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company are held by separate individuals. The role
of the Chairman is separated from that of the Chief Executive
Officer. Such division of responsibilities helps to reinforce their
independence and accountability.

Mr. Lai Fulin takes up the role of providing leadership for the
Board and ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges
its responsibility properly. With the support of executive Directors
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.
The Chairman also ensures that good corporate governance
practice is in force from time to time, and all key issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner.
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Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
is responsible for managing overall daily operations of the Group,
the implementation of the Group’s development strategies and
plans and to perform other responsibilities as assigned by the
Board.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal actions against its Directors and officers.

BOARD MEETING

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year,
additional meetings are convened when deemed necessary by
the Board. Board members are provided with complete, adequate
and timely information to allow the Directors to fulfill their duties
properly. In addition, Directors have full access to information
on the Group and independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the Directors. In addition, the Chairman and
non-executive Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) meet at least once every year without the presence of
executive Directors.

During the year, the Board met regularly and held nine meetings.
Notices and board papers were given to all Directors prior to the
board meetings in accordance with the Code. The Chairman and
non-executive Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) met once without the presence of executive Directors.

Meetings held in 2024

Details of the Directors’ attendance at Board meetings, Board
committee meetings and general meeting (including an annual
general meeting) respectively held in 2024 are set out as below:
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B IR
: Attended/Eligible to attend
HERY,/ FERERRY
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
0 Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ENZE. REZEE FHzEg
Ezgel 23 =E a3 BREAE
Number of Meetings Held ERETRY 9 3 4 3 1
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Lai Fulin ERELE 99 - 4/4 33 17
Mr. Lai Guanglin* R L 3/4 = = = =
Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng MRERAE 99 - = = 1/1
*  Appointed on 1 July 2024 and resigned on 4 November 2024 * RIEZNFEA-HBEARR T ZOEF
+— A BEHE
[
Independent Non-executive ~ BYFHTEES
Directors
Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson ~ ZBAERAE 99 33 - - 1/1
Mr. Chen Wei Wen REXEE 99 33 4/4 33 171
. Mr. Guan Zhigiang ELEmkAE 99 313 4/4 33 1/1
! Mr. Wang Chaolong FHERE 8/9 33 4/4 23 1/1
Ms. Zheng Yang* B At N/A T EF N/A iR - - N/A T
*  Appointed on 18 December 2024 * RIZEZEFE+ZATN\RBRZEMR
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BOARD COMMITTEES

A number of Board committee, including audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee, have
been established by the Board to strengthen its functions and
to enhance its expertise. All committees have been formed with
specific written terms of reference which deals clearly with the
respective committees’ authorities and duties.

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises four members including one executive Director, namely
Mr. Lai Fulin and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chen Wei Wen, Mr. Guan Zhigiang and Mr. Wang
Chaolong. It is chaired by Mr. Guan Zhigiang.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
are as follows:

(@  To make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(b) To review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(0 To make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments (including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office
or appointment); and

(d To make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive directors.

The remuneration package of executive Directors is determined
by reference to their duties and responsibilities, experience and
the prevailing market conditions. The remuneration package of
individual executive Directors includes salary, discretionary bonus
and share-based payment. Details of the Directors’ fee and other
emoluments of the Directors of the Company are set out in Note
32 to the financial statements.
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The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it
will review the proposals made by the management on the
remuneration of executive Directors and senior management,
and make recommendations to the Board. The Board will have
final authority to approve the recommendations made by the
Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during 2024,
the following major matters were reviewed and discussed in the
meetings and recommended to the Board for approval:

o To review the remuneration policy and remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management of the
Company;

o To consider the bonus arrangement of the Directors and
senior management of the Company; and

. To review the new service contracts entered into between
the Company and executive Director and non-executive
Director.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the Code, the details
remuneration of the senior management of the Company by band
for the year ended 31 December 2024 was set out in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee
comprises four members including an executive Director, Mr. Lai
Fulin, and three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chen
Wei Wen, Mr. Guan Zhigiang and Mr. Wang Chaolong. It is
chaired by Mr. Lai Fulin, the Chairman of the Board.
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Board Diversity Policy

In August 2013, the Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy.
Such policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity on Board.
With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee
reviewed the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives,
and monitored the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
annually.

Having reviewed the Board composition, the Board recognises
the importance and benefits of gender diversity at the Board level
and shall continue to maintain gender diversity when considering
potential successors to the Board. The Company targets to
maintain a Board with female representation and gender diversity
is achieved. As of the date of this report, the Board comprises
seven Directors, 6 Directors were male and 1 Director was female.
69% of our total workforce were male. We will continue with our
endeavor to increase female representation in our Board.

Nomination Policy

In December 2018, the Company adopted the Nomination Policy.
According to the policy, the Nomination Committee (“NC")
will consider candidates recommended by shareholders in the
same manner as candidates recommended to the NC from other
sources. In its evaluation of director candidates, including the
members of the Board eligible for re-election, the NC will consider
(1) The current size and composition of the Board and the needs
of the Board and the respective committees of the Board; (2)
Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service; and (3) Other factors that
the NC may consider appropriate.
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The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as
follows:

(a

To review the structure, size and composition (board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company'’s corporate strategy;

To identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of, individuals nominated for directorships.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

To review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate, and
disclose the Board Diversity Policy or its summary in the
corporate governance report of the Company including
the measurable objectives set for implementing the Board
Diversity Policy and progress made towards achieving these
measurable objectives;

To review the policy for the nomination of Directors
(“Nomination Policy”) as appropriate. The Nomination Policy
shall set out, inter alia, the nomination procedures and
process and criteria to select and recommend candidates for
directorship;

To assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and

To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
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The Nomination Committee held four meetings during 2024,
the following major issues were reviewed and discussed in the
meeting:

o To review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

o To review the Board Diversity Policy;

o To make recommendation to the Board for approval the
revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee;

o To make recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of directors; and

o To evaluate and make recommendation as to the
qualification and experience of the directors who were
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the 2024
annual general meeting.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, Audit Committee consists of five
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yee
Shuen, Wilson, Mr. Chen Wei Wen, Mr. Guan Zhigiang, Mr. Wang
Chaolong and Ms. Zheng Yang. It is chaired by Mr. Wong Yee
Shuen, Wilson who has the appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting and financial management expertise.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are as
follows:

(@ To make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external
auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of
its resignation or dismissal;

(b)  To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them;

(c)  To review the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems; and

(d) To discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during 2024 and the
following major matters were reviewed and discussed in the
meetings:

0 o To review the annual results of 2023 and the interim results
of 2024 and making recommendation to the Board for
approval;

o To make recommendation on the reappointment of the
auditor;

o To review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function and their training programme and related
budget;

o To review the risk management, internal control systems
and annual internal audit plans;

o To review connected transactions entered into by the Group
or subsisting during the year;

o To approve the auditor’'s remuneration for audit of 2024
financial statements; and

o To discuss the audit service plan of 2024.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board adopted the written terms of reference on corporate

governance functions in March 2012 so as to assist the Board

performing corporate governance functions. The terms of

reference of the Board in respect of corporate governance

functions are summarized as follows:

(@) To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(0 To review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices to ensure compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;
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(d) To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) To review the Company’s compliance with the code
provisions set out in the Code contained in Appendix
C1 of the Listing Rules and its disclosure requirements in
Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the Company'’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuing
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code,
and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board
in discharge of its corporate governance functions.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees charged by the auditor generally depends on the
scope and volume of the auditor’s work. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the remuneration to the auditor of the Company
in respect of audit services was HK$1,430,000 and fees related
to taxation services and other non-audit services amount to
HK$128,000 and HK$90,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements. The senior
management provides such explanation and information to the
Board so as to enable the Board to make an informed assessment
of the financial information and position of the Company.

The Directors acknowledge the responsibilities for preparing the
accounts of the Company. The responsibilities of the auditor
of the Company with respect to the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 58
to 65.
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GOING CONCERN

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that
the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it
is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of
risk management and internal controls within the Group and for
reviewing their effectiveness. The systems of risk management
and internal control are designed to facilitate effective and
efficient operations, to safeguard assets and to ensure the quality
of internal and external reporting and compliance control and risk
management functions. It is also designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance that material misstatement or loss
can be avoided, and to manage and minimize risks of failure in
operation systems.

The Group has set up a risk management system to provide
directions in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks and is reviewed at least on an annual basis. The senior
management of the Group identifies risks that would adversely
affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses
and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria.

The Board has engaged an independent professional advisor
to perform ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control review to assess the effectiveness of the financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions of the Company and the Group’s major subsidiaries on
a rotation basis.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted
to the Audit Committee at least once a year. The Board, through
the Audit Committee, had performed annual review on the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system and internal
control system, including the scope on risk management and
internal control systems, result of internal audit work and status of
compliance control.
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With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, The Group has in place
a policy on disclosure of inside information which sets out the
procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination
of inside information. Such policy provides guidelines to the
Directors, officers and all relevant employees of the Group to
ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from
breaching the statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes
appropriate internal control and reporting systems to identify and
assess potential inside information.

Key procedures in place include:

o establish periodic financial reporting procedures so that key
financial and operating data is identified and escalated in a
structured and timely manner;

. authorize one or more officer(s) or an internal committee to
be notified of any potential inside information and to escalate
any such information to the attention of the Board;

. restrict access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis;

o ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place
when the Company enters into significant negotiations;

o if confidentiality has been lost, the Company must disclose
the inside information as soon as reasonably practicable.

To avoid uneven dissemination of inside information, the
dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the Stock
Exchange’s website and on the Company’s website.
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At the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 21 March 2025,
the independent professional advisor reported their review work
for the year ended 31 December 2024 performed in accordance
with the detailed risk-based internal control review plan which
was approved by the Audit Committee and the risk management
report was also circulated to the Audit Committee for review. The
Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management system
and internal control system for the year ended 31 December
2024. The Audit Committee members, together with the senior
management, have also reviewed, considered and discussed
the risk management system, all findings relating to the internal
control system and recommendations for improvement. The Board
considers the risk management system and internal control system
of the Group were effective and adequate during the year.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and was satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting function.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Cheng Siu Kwan,
who is also the Financial Controller of the Company. Mr. Cheng
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He fulfills the requirement under
Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

The Company Secretary is responsible for providing secretarial
services to the Board and ensuring the operation of the Company
is properly complied with Hong Kong listed companies’ regulatory
requirements as well as enhancing its corporate governance
standards. All Directors have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that board
procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.
Company Secretary is also the secretary of each of Board
committees. Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of all Board
committees are kept by the Company Secretary and are available
for inspection by the Directors at all times.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Right to convene special general meeting

Pursuant to Section 74(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act and the
bye-law 62 of the Bye-laws of the Company, the shareholder(s) of
the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company may request the Board to convene a
special general meeting. The requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting, and must be signed by the requisitionists and
deposited at the registered office of the Company and its head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong for the
attention of Company Secretary and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.
If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the said date.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar. Other
shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the head office and
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong as set
out in the “Corporate Information” section of this Annual Report
for the attention of Company Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to Sections 79(1) and 79(2) of the Bermuda Companies
Act, on the requisition in writing of either (i) any number of
members of the Company representing not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all the members having at
the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which
the requisition relates; or (i) not less than one hundred members,
the Company shall, at the expense of the requisitionists unless the
Company otherwise resolves:

(@) to give to members of the Company entitled to receive
notice of the next annual general meeting notice of any
resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to
be moved at that meeting;
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(b)  to circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more
than one thousand words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall
be deposited, with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the
Company's expenses in giving notice of the proposed resolution
or circulating any necessary statement, at the registered office of
the Company and its head office and principal place of business in
Hong Kong in the case of:

(i) a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than
six weeks before the meeting; and

(i) any other requisition, not less than one week before the
meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will proceed with
the necessary procedures.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is obliged to provide regular, effective and fair
communication with the shareholders and the investors of the
Company. Latest information is conveyed to the Shareholders and
the investors of the Company on a timely basis. A Shareholder
Communication Policy (the “Policy”) was adopted by the
Company in March 2012. The Policy aims to set out the provisions
with the objective of ensuring that the latest information of
the Company is conveyed to the Shareholders and investors on
a timely basis. The Company uses a range of communication
tools to ensure the Shareholders and the investors are kept well
informed of key business imperatives.

Disclosure of Information

Information shall be communicated to Shareholders and the
investors mainly through the Company’s financial reports (interim
report and annual report), annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making
available all the disclosures submitted to The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) and its
corporate communications and other corporate publications on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.
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General Meeting

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or
to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and on their
behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Shareholders’
views on matters that affect the Company are welcome by the
Board at shareholders’ meetings. Shareholders of the Company
are notified of shareholders” meetings through notices and reports
or circulars sent to them. Each item of special business in the
notice of the meeting is accompanied, where appropriate, by an
explanation for the proposed resolution. A separate resolution
is proposed by the chairman of the meetings in respect of each
separate issue, including the re-election of Directors.

The Chairman of the Board and Chairmen of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee or failing him/her, his/her duly appointed delegate, are
available at the annual general meeting to answer questions with
regard to the work of these committees.

Voting by Poll

Save as provided under the Listing Rules, resolutions put to vote
at the general meetings of the Company (other than procedural
matters) are taken by poll. Procedures regarding the conduct of
the poll are explained to the shareholders at the commencement
of each general meeting, and questions from shareholders
regarding the voting procedures are answered. The poll results are
posted on the respective websites of the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on the same day of the poll.

WHISTLE BLOWING POLICY

The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining the highest
standards of openness, probity and accountability. The Board of
the Company adopted the Whistle Blowing Policy in accordance
with the requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 26
May 2022. It provides formal channels and guidance to facilitate
the raising matters of concern by employees of the Group and
those deal with the Group, in confidence, without fear of reprisals.
Details of the Whistle Blowing Policy of the Company are disclosed
on the Company’s corporate website (Www.chinapipegroup.com).
The policy is subject to review by the Audit Committee periodically
to improve its effectiveness and employee confidence in the
process and to encourage a “speak up” culture.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group is committed to upholding integrity, honesty,
fairness, impartiality and ethical business practices as our Group's
core values and has zero tolerance for corruption and related
malpractice. The Board adopted the Anti-Corruption Policy in
accordance with the requirements of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on 26 May 2022. It provides a reporting mechanism
of suspected corruption practices. Details of the Anti-Corruption
Policy of the Company are disclosed on the Company’s corporate
website (www.chinapipegroup.com). The policy is subject to
review by the Board of the Company periodically to ensure that it
is operating effectively and whether any changes to the policy are
required.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company maintains a website (www.chinapipegroup.com)
where information and updates on the list of directors and their
roles and functions, constitutional documents, terms of reference
of the Board committees, procedures for shareholders to propose
a person for election as a director, announcements, circulars
and reports, etc. released to the HKExnews' website (www.
hkexnews.hk) and other information are posted. Information
on the Company’s website will be updated from time to time.
A dedicated email address (ir@chinapipegroup.com) for investor
enquiry is set out in the “IR Contact” section on the Company’s
website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there was no significant change to the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure
in presenting their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 33 to the
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by operating
segments is set out in Note 5 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 66.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) does not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In accordance with the relevant provision of the Bye-laws of
the Company: 1. The Company in general meeting may declare
dividends in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the
amount recommended by the Board. 2. The Board may subject to
Bye-laws from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends as appear to the Board to be justified by the position
of the Company. 3. The Board may also pay half-yearly or at
other suitable intervals to be settled by it any dividend which may
be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is of the opinion that the
profits justify the payment. 4. No dividend shall be declared or
paid and no distribution of contributed surplus made otherwise
than in accordance with the Statutes. No dividend shall be paid
otherwise than out of profits available for distribution. 5. The
Company may distribute dividends by way of cash or scrip.

The Company’s ability to distribute dividends will depend on,
among others, the operating results, cash flow, financial condition
and capital requirements of the Group and the interests of
the shareholders of the Company. The Company’s distribution
of dividends shall also comply with any restrictions under the
Bermuda Companies Act and the Bye-laws of the Company.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development, possible
risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.

The details of financial risk management of the Group are set out
in Note 3 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is set out in the section
headed “Five-Year Financial Summary” of this Annual Report.

The compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group is set out in this “Report of
Directors” and the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this Annual Report.

Social Responsibilities and Services and Environmental
policies

The Group is committed in promoting the sustainable
development of both the environment and the society.

We believe it is more blessed to give than to receive. As such, we
support and encourage our employees to participate in community
service activities. With the support from the management team,
our core business company, Bun Kee (International) Limited
("Bun Kee") is committed to participate and support social
services activities. In this regard, Bun Kee has awarded the
Caring Company logo in recognition of our corporate social
responsibility’s participation and commitment. We also believe
in the ripple effect which those people, whom we helped, will in
turn help others who are in need.

With regards to environmental policy, we pay a great deal
of attention to promoting environmental protection. We will
integrate environmental awareness in our daily operations
including:

e  Reduce electricity consumption, improve energy efficiency,

use of energy-efficient products to replace the appliances
and equipment;
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Turn off lightings, air-conditioners and electrical appliances in
offices after working hours, or when rooms not being used,
for instance, the conference rooms;

Use electronic means for communications internally and with
external parties;

Reduce the need to copy and print. Use of recycled
paper, copy and print on both sides of the paper, where
appropriate; and

Re-use of office supplies (such as single-sided paper, paper
clips, envelopes, file folders, paper bags, plastic bags).

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group understands and supports that employees, customers,
suppliers and business partners, investors and shareholders are
vital to our sustainable and stable development.

(@)

Employees

The Group is an equal opportunity employer. Our employee
handbook outlines terms and conditions of employment,
code of conduct and employee benefits. We promote
harmony and respect in our workplace. Employees are one
of our most important assets. To that end, we provide self-
improvement and advancement opportunities as well as a
safe workplace in order to retain high calibre employees. The
Group values the well-being and health of our employees
and therefore provides medical insurance coverage and
benefits to our employees. In addition, we will organize staff
gathering quarterly and annual dinner, all management will
also participate to maintain good relations with employees
and promote two-way communication. The Company
will conduct staff appraisal annually, and also provide
exit interviews for the outgoing employees. We adopt an
open policy to allow employees at any time, by email or in
person to the department managers or Human Resources
department to express their views.

Report of the Directors
B

RIEMARHEXBRERFRHE (NEZ

) BAEER  ZANEFRE

RELETE
T

77 S AE R B ER R S

WMAOEEAHFIENNFE R - ERTTHIER

™~ ﬁ%ﬁ%%*%%%ﬁﬂmﬁ@ﬂ
(fn@Emm) -
o WARAM(BIMEBEAL - HEIE - 5
H K HE - BB EEEA -
HFEEHHERE
AEFPALTHREE - BF - HEENE

BEERH  REENMRFHEMOFER
FEREMEE -

()

&S

ANEER—EAFSHEHEE - HFIN
BT FMBLl 7T omBAGK BITA
SRR B TRAAEAER - RIHERE
TYE M MEE - B TRRME
PREENEEZ— ° Al - RIFRE
BREEMBENKE  BRHZ2H

TERE - ABESRENET - A%
BEREMNNE T2 - HibHME

HEBRBAMERFET o ko - 3
SRPTEHNE T BREMBFBRE @ FT
BEEEYeLHE  HBETREBERTHN
R W{REERER - ARSTFA

BTET—RERZ  TERASEEN
B THETTRERE A - ARGV

R BEEANEEWRR  BBEEF
B EKRARBPIEE AN EREPE
RBFER -

|

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 # #

41



42

Report of the Directors
EH O

(iij) Customers

We provide high quality products to our customers constantly
as it is the best way to retain customers and business growth.
Our sales team will visit customers regularly to keep abreast
of new opportunities and challenges. All opinions received
will be prompt handled by the relevant team. We grow up
together with most of our customers in past years and we
have established solid and long-term relationships with them.
We also have built up a trust and good reputation among
our customers over the years.

(iii) Suppliers and business partners

For our suppliers and business partners, we strive to maintain
a stable and long-term relationship with them. The Group's
procurement is based on our stringent suppliers’ selection
criteria. To ensure the highest quality of products, the Group
has requested the suppliers to provide product certification.
In addition, we engaged highly reputable independent
laboratories for quality testing to ensure that the products
comply with local and international standards. Our sales
team and procurement team will have regular visit to our
suppliers’ factories for inspection. In order to allow our
customers to have direct feedback channel to the suppliers,
we will also organize some factory tours to the customers.
This can let them better understanding of the production
flow and products quality affirmation in order to win the
utmost confidence of customers.

(iv) Investors and shareholders

For the investors and shareholders, we maintain a high
level of transparency and communicate with them through
meetings, announcements and circulars. The Company
maintains a website, the information will be updated from
time to time. In addition, a dedicated email address is set out
in the “IR Contact” section of the Company’s website for
investor and general public inquiry.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2024
amounted to approximately HK$168.8 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in Note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 23 to the financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2024
are set out in Note 25 to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or
sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the Bermuda Companies Act, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
2024 are set out in Note 33 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lai Guanglin (Co-Chairman) (Appointed on 1 July 2024 and
resigned on 4 November 2024)

Mr. Lai Fulin (Chairman) (Re-designated as co-chairman on 1 July
2024 and re-designated as chairman on 4 November 2024)

Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson

Mr. Chen Wei Wen

Mr. Guan Zhigiang

Mr. Wang Chaolong

Ms. Zheng Yang (Appointed on 18 December 2024)

In accordance with bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
Mr. Chen Wei Wen and Mr. Guan Zhigiang will retire from office
by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. In accordance with bye-
law 102(B) of the Bye-laws of the Company, Ms. Zheng Yang will
retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The retiring
director being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers that
all of them are independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has
entered in to any service contract with the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, which is not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors and their respective associates has an
interest in any business which competes or may compete with the
business in which the Group engaged.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 May
2015, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of
a new share option scheme (the “2015 Scheme") under which the
directors of the Company may grant options to eligible persons
to subscribe for the Company’s shares subject to the terms and
conditions as stipulated therein. Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the 2015 Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10
years from the date of its adoption.

The 2015 Scheme

The details of 2015 Scheme are as follows:

(a) Purpose

The purpose of the 2015 Scheme is to recognize and
acknowledge the contributions or potential contributions
made or to be made by the participants to the Group, to
motivate the participants to optimize their performance and
efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and to maintain or
attract business relationship with the participants whose
contributions are or may be beneficial to the growth of the
Group.

(b) Participants

The Board may offer to grant options to the participants
which means (i) any director (including any executive director,
non-executive director or independent non- executive
director) of any member of the Group; (i) any employee
(whether in full time or part-time employment) of any
member of the Group; (iii) any consultant, adviser, supplier,
customer or subcontractor of the Group, and (iv) any other
person whatsoever from time to time determined by the
Board as having contributed to the development, growth or
benefit of the Group.
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(9

(d)

(e)

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme

The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the general meeting
of the Company approving the Scheme. The number of
shares may be refreshed by the approval of the shareholders
and the refreshed limit of the number of shares must not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as
the date of the approval of the refreshed limit. The maximum
number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Scheme is 133,226,600 Shares, representing 10% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant (including exercised or outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of
shares in issue as at the date of grant.

Minimum period for options to be held

No minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised unless otherwise specified in the relevant
offer letter.
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(9)

()

Period and payment on acceptance of options

Pursuant to the Scheme, HK$10 is payable by the grantee to
the Company on acceptance of the option within 28 days
from the date of grant of the option.

Basis determining the subscription price

The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Scheme shall be a price determined
by the Board and notified to the participants and shall be
at least the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as
stated in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) daily quotation sheet on the
date on which the options are deemed to be granted and
accepted in accordance with the terms of the Scheme (the
“Commencement Date”), which must be a business day; (b)
the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the Commencement
Date; and (c) the nominal value of the shares.

Life of the Scheme

Subject to earlier termination by the Company at general
meeting or by the Board, the life of the Scheme commenced
from 21 May 2015, the date of adoption, and ended on 20
May 2025.

As at 31 December 2024, no share option was granted by the
Company under the 2015 Scheme.

(/)
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”), were set out
below:

Long positions in the shares and underlying share of
the Company

Personal
Name of Director Capacity Interests
EEEB L) B AR
Yu Ben Ansheng Beneficial owner/Interest of 3,000,000
controlled corporation
MTE ERfE A/ RIEHEEER
Note:

These shares are held by King Jade Holdings Limited, which is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng, an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Yu is deemed to
be interested in such shares under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive or their respective associates had
any interests or short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
following persons or corporations, other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as
follows:

Long position in share and underlying share of the
Company

Name of shareholders Capacity

REREE =37}

Singapore Zhongxin Investment Beneficial owner
Company Limited (ote 121 E=mAA

Li Juan (o2 Interest of spouse

==l [ Ep

Qu Zhi Beneficial owner

fhE BHERA

King Jade Holdings Limited (et ##3  Beneficial owner
EmEEA

Notes:

1. Singapore Zhongxin Investment Company Limited is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. Lai Guanglin. Accordingly, Mr. Lai is
deemed to be interested in such shares under the SFO.

2. Ms. LiJuan, the spouse of Mr. Lai Guanglin, is also deemed to be
interested in Mr. Lai's interest in the Company under the SFO.

3. King Jade Holdings Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
Yu Ben Ansheng, an executive Director and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Yu is deemed to be
interested in such shares under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company
had not been notified by any persons or corporations, other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, who had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the year.

DONATIONS

Donations for charitable made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$25,500.

SHARES ISSUED

The Company has not issued any share during the year ended 31
December 2024.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Company has not issued any debenture during the year ended
31 December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’

liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group throughout the year.
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MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as the disclosure of related party transactions set out in Note
30 to the financial statements, no Director or an entity connected
with Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance between any members of
the Group and the Company’s controlling shareholders subsisting
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

1. From 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2024, the Group paid
consultancy fee to a company, Brothers Capital Limited
("BCL"), owned by Mr. Lai Guanglin (“Mr. Lai") for a fixed
sum of HK$373,000 per month as agreed by both parties
according to the consultancy services agreement dated 3
April 2023 for the period from 3 April 2023 to 31 March
2024 ("Previous Consultancy Services Agreement”). The total
amount of consultancy services fees paid by the Company
was HK$1,119,000 for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31
March 2024.
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On 2 April 2024, the Group entered into a new Consultancy
Services Agreement with a company directly wholly-owned
by Mr. Lai on substantially the same terms as the Previous
Consultancy Services Agreement for the period from 2
April 2024 to 31 March 2025. The consulting service fee of
HK$4,476,000 shall be in 12 installments payable monthly
in arrears on the last Business Day of each month. The new
Consultancy Services Agreement was terminated on 30 June
2024. The total amount of consultancy services fees paid
by the Company was HK$2,238,000 for the period from 1
January 2024 to 30 June 2024.

This is a continuing connected transaction which is exempted
under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

As mentioned in the announcement dated 11 May 2016
and the circular dated 15 July 2016 of the Company, on 11
May 2016, Mao Xing Limited (now known as Softpower
(China) Limited), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
(the “Lender”), entered into a loan agreement (the “Loan
Agreement”) with China Victory International Holdings
Limited, (“CVIL"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Agria
Corporation, pursuant to which the Lender has conditionally
agreed to grant to CVIL a loan facility in the amount
of up to US$10,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$77,746,000) upon and subject to the terms and
conditions set out therein.

As at the date of the Loan Agreement, Mr. Lai Guanglin,
the former director and the controlling shareholder of
the Company (Mr. Lai resigned as director on 30 March
2018) and was also the controlling shareholder of Agria
Corporation. As such, CVIL is therefore a connected person
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The transactions contemplated under the Loan Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The loan carried interest at 10.5% per annum and is
repayable by 31 July 2019. The loan was secured by the
entire issued shares of CVIL executed by Agria Group Limited
("AGL"), the immediate holding company of CVIL, and also
guaranteed by a deed of corporate guarantee executed by
Agria Corporation in favour of the Group.
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Pursuant to a resolution passed in a special general meeting
on 23 February 2018, the Group agreed to novate and AGL,
a wholly -owned subsidiary of Agria Corporation and the
immediate holding company of CVIL, agreed to assume
the Group’s loan to CVIL of US$10,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$78,357,000) with all other terms and conditions
remained unchanged.

On 9 May 2019, the Group entered into a loan agreement
("2019 Loan Agreement”) with AGL to renew the loan and
the proposed annual caps from 1 August 2020 to 31 July
2022.

Under the 2019 Loan Agreement, the clause of the share
mortgage executed by AGL, being the sole shareholder of
CVIL, over the entire issued shares of CVIL in favour of the
Group has been removed. Save as the above amendments, all
other terms of the 2019 Loan Agreement remain unchanged
and continue in full force and effect.

On 21 July 2020, the Group and AGL agreed to enter into
a supplemental loan agreement (“2020 Supplemental Loan
Agreement”) to adjust downward the interest rate for each
of the interest period from ten point five per cent (10.5%) of
the Loan per annum to five point five per cent (5.5%) of the
Loan per annum.

The Loan is also secured by a share charge to be executed
by the Borrower in favour of the Lender as a continuing
security and continuing obligation for performance by the
Borrower of its obligations in the 2019 Loan Agreement (as
amended or supplemented by the 2020 Supplemental Loan
Agreement). Pursuant to the share charge, the Borrower will
charge 20% of its share interests in Agria Asia Investments
Limited (“AAIL") to the Lender. AAIL is a company with
limited liability incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
is wholly-owned by the Borrower. AAIL is indirectly holding a
share equity investment in an agricultural enterprise in New
Zealand through Agria (Singapore) Pte. Ltd, the only and
wholly-owned direct subsidiary of AAIL.

Save and except for the revision on the original interest rate
and the share charge by AGL, all other terms as set out in
the 2019 Loan Agreement remain unchanged.

Report of the Directors
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Pursuant to a resolution passed in a special general meeting
on 12 August 2020, 2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement
was approved.

The annual caps of the maximum principal loan outstanding
for the years ended 31 December 2019, 31 December 2020,
31 December 2021 and period ended 31 July 2022 were
US$10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$78,500,000) for each
year/period.

The annual caps of the interest amounts for the period from
1 January 2020 to 11 August 2020, period from 12 August
2020 (assumed the effective date of 2020 Supplemental
Loan Agreement) to 31 December 2020, year ended 31
December 2021 and period ended 31 July 2022 were
Us$645,000, US$214,000, US$550,000 and US$320,000
respectively (“Annual Caps”). The 2020 Supplemental Loan
Agreement, Annual Caps of the principal loan outstanding
and interest amounts were approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the Company’s special general meeting on
12 August 2020.

As the loan and the annual caps of the aforesaid continuing
connected transaction will expire on 31 July 2022, the Group
entered into a new loan agreement dated 22 April 2022
("2022 Loan Agreement”) with the AGL to renew the loan
and the proposed annual caps from 1 August 2022 to 31
July 2025. All terms as set out in the 2022 Loan Agreement
remain the same as 2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement.

The new annual caps of the interest amounts for the financial
period from 1 August 2022 (assumed the effective date of
2022 Loan Agreement) to 31 December 2022, year ended 31
December 2023, year ending 31 December 2024 and period
from 1 January 2025 to 31 July 2025 were US$231,000,
US$550,000, US$552,000 and US$320,000 respectively
("New Annual Caps”). The 2022 Loan Agreement, New
Annual Caps of the principal loan outstanding and interest
amounts were approved by the shareholders of the Company
at the Company’s special general meeting on 8 July 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, the interest income
from AGL amounted to approximately US$550,000,
(equivalent to HK$4,320,000) (2023: US$550,000 (equivalent
to HK$4,324,000)).

As at 31 December 2024, the loan to AGL amounted
to US$10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$77,956,000)
(31 December 2023: US$10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$78,436,000)).

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the continuing connected transaction and
confirmed that (i) the entering into of the Loan Agreement,
although it is not conducted in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, it is in the interests of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole; and (ii) the terms
of the loan agreement and the Annual Caps are on normal
commercial terms and are fair and reasonable.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transaction in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the above mentioned
continuing connected transaction in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter
has been provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

Report of the Directors
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Group entered into the following connected transaction
during the year:

On 21 February 2024, the Group advanced a loan of
HK$2,950,000 to a related party. The loan carries interest at 7%
per annum and repayable by 21 February 2026.

On 24 April 2024, the Group and a related party enter into a
supplemental loan agreement to vary the original loan principal
amount from HK$2,950,000 to HK$5,000,000. The loan was
secured by personal guarantee from the controlling shareholder of
the Company, Mr. Lai Guanglin, the uncle of a related party. Save
as supplemented by the supplemental loan agreement, all other
terms, conditions and provision shall remain unchanged.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, interest income from loan
to a related party amounted to approximately HK$276,000.

Save as disclosed above and in Note 30 to the financial
statements, during the year, there were no connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply
with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year attributable
to the Group’s major suppliers and customers are as follows:
Purchases

—  the largest supplier 19.7%

- five largest suppliers combined 60.7%

Sales

— the largest customer 5.6%

— five largest customers combined 25.6%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Details of the compliance with corporate governance code of
the Company are set out in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT” of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee consists of five independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yee Shuen, Wilson, Mr. Chen Wei
Wen, Mr. Guan Zhigiang, Mr. Wang Chaolong and Ms. Zheng
Yang.

By reference to “A Guide for the Formation of An Audit
Committee” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, written terms of reference which describe the
authority and duties of the audit committee were prepared and
adopted by the Board of the Company.

The annual results have been reviewed by the audit committee of
the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float required under the Listing
Rules as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

By Order of the Board

Lai Fulin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B S A BB

To the Shareholders of China Pipe Group Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Pipe Group Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set
out on pages 66 to 159, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended,;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Net realisable value of inventories

o Impairment of loan to a related company

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Key Audit Matter
BRETEER

Net realisable value of inventories
Refer to notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, inventories of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$246.4
million. As described in the accounting
policies in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements, inventories are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Management applied judgement in
determining the appropmate provisions
for slow moving, obsolete inventories and
inventories with net realisable value below
cost. Net realisable value is determined with
reference to the aging and marketability of
inventories on a product-by-product basis,
and with reference to their latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. An
impairment provision of approximately
HK$9.9 million has been recorded to reduce
the carrying value of certain inventories to
their estimated net realisable value.

We focused on this area due to the size
of the balances and the higher degree of
estimation uncertainty and subjectivity in
management’s judgement in determining the
net realisable value of the inventories.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment on net
realisable value of inventories included:

Understood and evaluated the appropriateness and
consistency of the basis management used in estimating the
level of provision for inventories, and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors
such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment of inventory
provision to assess the effectiveness of management’s
estimation process.

Checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of inventory aging
used by management to estimate the appropriate provision for
slow moving and obsolete inventories.

Performed analytics on inventory holding and movement
data to identify products with indication of slow moving or
obsolescence.

Compared the carrying amounts of a sample of inventories
to their net realisable value by checking to their selling price
subsequent to the year end. Where there are no subsequent
sales of the respective products after the year end, we
challenged management as to the realisable value of the
products, corroborating explanations with the aging, sales
orders, historical margins and marketability of the respective
inventories, as appropriate.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the assumptions of
management in relation to assessment on net realisable value of
inventories to be supportable by available evidence.
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Key Audit Matter
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Impairment of loan to a related company
Refer to notes 4, 19 and 30(d) to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held a
loan to a related company of approximately
HK$77.8 million net of the provision of
approximately HK$0.1 million.

Management applied judgement in
determining the appropriate loss allowance
for impairment of loan to the related
company. The loan is secured by corporate
guarantee by the holding company of the
borrower (the “Guarantor”) and a 30% share
charge over a subsidiary of the borrower.
The loan is interest bearing and repayable
by July 2025 as detailed in note 30(d) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Management assessed the financial
conditions of the related company and the
Guarantor, taking into account the settlement
history of the related interest, benchmark
the probability of default rate and loss given
default rate of similar companies to derive an
expected credit loss of HK$0.1 million on this
loan as at 31 December 2024.

We focused on this area due to the size
of the balance and the higher degree of
estimation uncertainty and subjectivity in
management’s judgement in determining the
recoverable amount of the loan.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
on the loan receivable included:

Understood and evaluated management assessment on
impairment of loan to a related company, and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes and
susceptibility to management bias or fraud.

Checked to management’s approval, loan agreement and
obtained direct confirmation from the related company on the
balance and terms of the loan as at 31 December 2024 with
no exception.

Checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy of interest payment
received and whether they are in accordance with the terms of
the loan agreement.

Challenged management as to the recoverability of the
loan, corroborating explanations with the latest financial
information of the related company and the Guarantor and
value of secured assets.

Involved our in-house valuation expert in assessing the
reasonableness of the assumptions adopted in estimating the
expected credit loss.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the assumptions of
management in relation to the impairment assessment on loan to
the related company to be supportable by available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
3 7 A B Bl e

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report
our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B S A BB

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ng Hiu Tung.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Consolidated Income Statement

IR E S

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_WF+-_A=+—HLFE

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other gains, net

Selling and distribution costs

General and administrative expenses

Provision for impairment of financial
assets

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance income, net

Profit before income tax
Tax expense

Profit for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted

YA

HERAR

EF

HAth Yo F 58

HE K AR
—REITHER
TREERBERRE

il

LUETL N
MR

BUE R O

BeA R A
B

NCIL S SEEUN
FEAH & ) A

SREF
EA R

The above consolidated income statement should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2024 2023

—EBoNEF —E-=F

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
et FETT FET
5 783,502 714,129
7 (536,554) (519,478)

246,948 194,651

6 78 1,195
7 (25,230) (23,961)
7 (124,057) (109,228)
7 (5,340) (52)
92,399 62,605

9 15,515 12,979
9 (7,029) (6,740)
9 8,486 6,239
100,885 68,844
10 (13,665) (10,454)
87,220 58,390

HK cents HK cents

B JENL

11 6.55 4.38
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
»‘Zﬁ (=] ﬂ:‘.ﬁl&ﬁi@

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-Z-N&E+-_A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
Note HK$000 HK$'000
Ktat FET FET
Profit for the year REZ G 87,220 58,390
Other comprehensive income: Hih 2 ERE
Item that will not be reclassified HZHT & BT w2k
subsequently to profit or loss: EBEZEA
Actuarial gain/(loss) on post- BB BN EBOREE
employment benefit obligations, Wz (E51E)
net of tax FRRBIR R 24 18 (133)
Item that may be subsequently F 1% A s ERTEAE S i ]2k
reclassified to profit or loss: EEZIEA -
Currency translation differences BEmE = 24 22 (147)
Other comprehensive gain/(loss) AFEEHMEENE
for the year, net of tax (B8 - MIkTiIER 40 (280)
Total comprehensive income for RReIERFFE ARG
the year, net of tax attributable to FEBRTIZEENSLRE
equity holders of the Company 87,260 58,110

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income s A 2w S FE ERE KM S — 515
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

IR LR S INY

As at 31 December 2024
RZZEZWE+_A=+—H

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Loan to a related company
Loan to a related party

Rental deposits and other assets

Current assets

Loan to a related company
Inventories

Trade receivables

Deposits, prepayments and other

receivables

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
Tax recoverable
Pledged bank deposits
Restricted bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY
Equity holders

Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

&E

FRBEE
E SN
EREEE
mYAE
ERT—MEEAR
ERTBEAL
i‘ﬁf‘fhz%&ﬁ@iﬁ%

RBEE
ERT—HAERR]
e

B S MR

o AR CUNE 93

H At FEH IR

B EBEFABREZ
ETMEE

QL EEA
EHEMRITER
SR SRITEER
Re kB eEHEY

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED

EXEEERLT

Note
Bt

13
14
15
19
19
19

19
18
19

19
20
21

22
22

23
24

2024 2023
—E-UEF —EC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
10,558 11,261
57,918 72,787
1,256 273

= 78,312

5,000 =
7,414 7,157
82,146 169,790
77,832 =
246,388 217,326
195,567 187,334
104,276 98,578
1,519 1,541

79 316
46,000 46,000
1,070 1,106
281,959 228,138
954,690 780,339
1,036,836 950,129
26,645 26,645
790,396 703,136
817,041 729,781
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
A BN DL

As at 31 December 2024
RZZEZWE+_A=+—H

2024 2023
—B-mEF —E=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kzt FET FET
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 42,559 56,794
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIAAE 26 1,092 2,859
Other non-current liabilities HmIERBAE 1,066 554
44,717 60,207
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables, other payables and E S ERNFIA -
contract liabilities EtENAFIERERAE 27 92,554 68,098
Taxation payable FERIHRIE 8,602 4,357
Lease liabilities HEaRE 14 23,467 25,518
Borrowings BE 25 50,455 62,168
175,078 160,141
Total liabilities wWERE 219,795 220,348
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 1,036,836 950,129
Net current assets REEEFHE 779,612 620,198
Total assets less current liabilities #EERMABER 861,758 789,988

The financial statements on pages 66 to 159 were approved by F66R159E MBI BRECHESEeN —_F
the board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and were signed on its “RFE=A=-tB#iZ TRREE=ECEH
behalf: E

Lai Fulin 38388
Director &%

Yu Ben Ansheng 1% 4
Director %

AR & B 5 IR 0 2% e S B E — 6 B

o

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
| read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

B HE AR SR )

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_WF+-_A=+—HLFE

A1 January 2003 AZE2=5-A-H
Profit or the year RERE
Other comprehensive incore: ER2ENE
Acuariallossonpost-employment - BEAEFIRENRESE
benefit obligations, netof tax i
Curtency ranslation diferences gpngEE

Total comprehensive income for the year - REE2ENEEE

At 31 December 2023 AB-=E+-A=1-B

Attrbutable to equity holders of the Company
RAFERREARETD

Share Share Capital Merger — Statutory Other  Bxchange  Retained
apta  premium fesene Tesene Tesene fesene fesene - eamnings Total
BE  ROEE  BREE  oOBR  EER EMRE  EXBR  REMN i
S0 SO0 MSO0 KO0 HSOD RSO0 SO0 SO0 MO
T A FEr F#r Fér A FET T Tér
26,645 126552 15 3,70 U 2407 M4 s enen
- - - - - - - 58,390 58390
- - . - - (13 - e (13)
- - - - - - (147) - (14
- - - - - (133 (147 58,390 58110
26,645 126,552 3115 3,70 U 204 147 5634 79781
R R B 3R R B B P Mﬁ‘f—ﬁé

%E o

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
SRR SR EY R

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—Z_F+-_A=+—HItFE

A1 January 2004 R-Z-mE-R-A
Profitforthe year KERRT
Other comprefensive ncome: ER2ENE
Actuarial gan on post-employment - BBV ER | RREMRENE
benefit oligations, netof tax MEEk

Currency ranlation diferences ShpEsE

Total comprehensive income for the year - REB2ENEEE

At 31 Decertber 2024 W-3-ME+A=1-H

b & R a8 B R FE R BE Y

HEO
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BaBleiEg

For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-_Z-_WF+-_A=+—HLFE

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Interest received

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Repayment of loan from a director

Loan to a related party

Payment for acquisition of intangible
assets

Dividend income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Drawdown of borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Principal elements of lease payments

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year

REFTHRERE
REXBEE AT
EfFE

EHFE
EfFTEH

REERPELRDFR

REFBZRERE
BAYE - BEL&RE
HEWE - BERERBZ
PS50
ERTIBEAL
BEENEE TR

BARBEFARREZ
EREEZBEWA

RE GBS

BMETBH2RERE

\
/

: E

> My

S W F
S

GORER=ANE

)
2

BMERBFTABRSFRE
Re MRS FEYIEINFRE

PEH ERE
FOzREeRRLFEY

FRZAEGRREEEY

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
Kt FET FET
29 102,892 40,385
(6,962) (6,647)
15,441 11,689
(10,953) (4,920)
100,418 40,507
13 (2,498) (8,199)
29 55 11
30(e) = 5,000
30(f) (5,000) -
15 (1,206) =
82 78
(8,567) (3,110)
421,503 451,345
(433,216) (442,530)
(26,124) (23,185)
(37.837) (14,370)
54,014 23,027
(1,299) (270)
22 229,244 206,487
22 281,959 229,244
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

China Pipe Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in trading of construction materials, mainly pipes and fittings.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2025.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B SO B R M

2. WEEE@®
(a) AEBEZRABEBETER

2. Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a) Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amended
standards for its annual reporting period commencing 1
January 2024:

AREBPR -_ZE-_NE—F—HBHH
WM EEIRE B A A TSR] 2
Al :

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as BB GTHER] BaESER
HKAS 1 Current and Non-current F15 VEINSE
({&FTA) &)
Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with AR S22 R 3F
HKAS 1 Covenants B9 (BETA) mEBE
Hong Kong Interpretation Presentation of Financial EEREESR  UBHRERHNZ
5 (Revised) Statements — Classification (1BE]) bl - FERRA
by the Borrower of a HEEKRE
Term Loan that Contains SKIBFRAEFK
a Repayment on Demand BIE B E K
Clause ofag:]
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and BAEMBHRS Ei&EIHEE
HKFRS 16 Leaseback ZRIZE165% ERfE
(BFTA)
HKAS 7 and Amendments Supplier Finance AR HEMRER
to HKFRS 7 Arrangements BIFEREE HE
B i ZE R
F75% (1BFTA)

The amendments listed above did not have any impact
on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future
periods.

2. Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and

interpretation not yet adopted

Certain new standards, amendments to accounting
standards and interpretation have been published that
are not mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting
period and have not been early adopted by the
group. These new standards and amendments are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New and amended standards and
interpretation not yet adopted (Continued)

Amendments to
HKAS 21 and
HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10
and HKAS 7

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HK Int 5

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendment to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards -
Volume 112

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures?

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?*

1 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025

2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2026

3 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027

4 effective date to be determined

B B R W

2. REEE @
(b) 15K 5 #h 0 57 3T R 4G5 3T o

B2 @)
EHEGHHERE BT ARG
SR BEH SR
EERF1R(E
HEN)
BRHMBHREEL S@MIAMER
FORREBIE  FEMEBE
WEERETR
(1BETA)
EAPHRELED BEYEREE
F5 - BRHB  RgERZ
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

3.

Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit and counterparty risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s financial risk management
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance by actively managing
debt level and cash flow in order to maintain a strong
financial position and minimising refinancing and
liquidity risks by attaining healthy debt repayment
capacity, appropriate maturity profile and availability of
banking facilities.

(a) Market risk

(@)

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates principally in Hong Kong
and in Macau with minor operations in the
Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the
United States dollars (“USD"), Macau Pataca
(“MOP") and Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign
exchange risk mainly arises from future
commercial transactions, recognised assets
and liabilities, which are denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency
of the group entities. In order to mitigate
the foreign currency risk, the Group has
been closely monitoring its foreign currency
exposure and requirements and will arrange
for any hedging facilities if necessary.

As HK$ is pegged against USD and MOP is
pegged against HK$, the Group is exposed
to limited exchange rate fluctuation. As a
result, the exchange rate risk exposure in
respect of USD and MOP are not significant.
While for RMB, the exchange rate fluctuation
is relatively volatile. At 31 December 2024,
if RMB had strengthened/weakened by
5% (2023: 5%) against HK$ with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit would
have been HK$26,000 (2023: HK$103,000)
higher/lower respectively mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation
of RMB-denominated financial assets and
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ir)

Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. The Group's interest-
bearing assets mainly include loan to a related
company, loan to a related party and bank
balances and deposits, details of which have
been disclosed in Notes 19, 21, 22 and 30.
The Group’s exposure to changes in interest
rates is also attributable to its borrowings,
details of which have been disclosed in Note
25. Borrowings carry at floating rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk
whereas those carry at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest-rate risk. As at 31
December 2024, approximately 18% (2023:
36%) of the Group's borrowings were carried
at floating rates and expose the Group to
cash flow interest-rate risk. The Group has
not used any interest rate swaps to hedge its
exposure against cash flow interest-rate risks.

As at 31 December 2024, if interest rate has
increased/decreased by 100 (2023: 100) basis
points with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2024 would have been HK$76,000
(2023: HK$185,000) lower/higher, mainly
as a result of increase/decrease in interest
expense on bank borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

3.

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk

(@)

Risk management

Credit risk mainly arises from bank deposits,
restricted bank balances, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, loan to a
related company and loan to a related party.
The carrying amounts of these balances
substantially represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit and counterparty risk in
relation to financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the
bank deposits are deposited in high quality
financial institutions without significant credit
risk. The credit risk on bank deposits is limited
because 45% (2023: 60%) of the Group's
bank balances are placed with subsidiaries of
state-owned banks and the rest are placed
with other reputable financial institutions.
Management does not expect any loss from
non-performance of these banks.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue trade and other
receivables.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)

(@

Risk management (Continued)

Rental deposits made to landlords are also
considered to be of low risk. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
Other than the loan to a related company and
loan to a related party as mentioned below,
the Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers.

In respect of the loan to a related company,
as detailed in Note 30(d), the Group obtained
share charge executed by the borrower and
guarantees executed by the guarantor in
favour of the Group as a continuing security
and continuing obligation for performance
by the borrower of its obligations to minimise
the credit risk.

In respect of the loan to a related party, as
detailed in Note 30(f), the Group obtained
guarantee executed by the guarantor in
favour of the Group as a continuing security
and continuing obligation for performance
by the borrower of its obligations to minimise
the credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

3.

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)

(ir)

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED

Impairment of financial assets
Trade receivables

The Group applied the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped with
similar risk characteristics and, collectively or
individually, assessing them for likelihood of
recovery.

For trade receivables relating to accounts in
which there are objective evidence that the
debtor faces significant financial difficulties
or enter liquidation, they are assessed
individually for impairment allowance. A
specific loss allowance of HK$4,932,000
was made as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$113,000).

The Group categorises its trade receivables,
except those individually assessed, based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The expected loss rates are
based on the payment profiles of sales over
a period of 12 months before 31 December
2024 and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the customers to settle the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The expected credit loss rate for the
remaining trade receivables is determined as
follow:

As at 31 December 2024 R=ZE=F

+=A=+-A
Collective assessment SRR
Within credit period FEEHR
1 to 30 days 1RE30K
31 to 90 days 31REIOKR
Over 90 days EBBI0K

As at 31 December 2023 RZZT =%

+=-—B=+—8~
Collective assessment SRS
Within credit period EEHR
1 to 30 days 1RE30K
31 to 90 days 31RE90K
Over 90 days BiBI0K

B B R W

3. MBRRBREER@®@
3.1 MHEARRE @

(b) FERXZHEEE)
(i) ZHEEHRE &)
B 5 RYGIR (B)

FIRE 5 RUKKANTE
HEEBBRXEEN

N
Lifetime Gross Lifetime Net
expected carrying expected carrying
loss rate amount credit loss amount
2B 2 HITEHA
FEFEEEX KREAE FEFE KREFE
% HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000
A FET FET FET
0.67 123,539 (828) 122,711
0.67 36,610 (245) 36,365
0.97 - 2.00 33,398 (452) 32,946
3.14-23.26 3,743 (198) 3,545
197,290 (1,723) 195,567
Lifetime Gross Lifetime Net
expected carrying expected carrying
loss rate amount  credit loss amount
e -GRELE 2 HATEHER
FEEEX FHRE FEEE KREFE
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
B FHET FET TFET
0.12 111,799 (135) 111,664
0.12 41,587 (50) 41,537
0.17-0.36 29,884 (73) 29,811
0.88 - 32.79 5,266 (944) 4,322

188,536 (1,202) 187,334
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

3.

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)

(i)

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The directors of the Group consider the
probability of default upon initial recognition
of asset and whether there has been
significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis. To assess whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares risk of a default occurring on the
assets as at the reporting date with the risk
of default as at the date of initial recognition.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

e actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
company's ability to meet its obligations;

e  actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of the company;

e significant changes in the expected
performance and behavior of the
company, including changes in the
payment status of the counterparty.

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 90 days past due in making a
contractual payment/repayable demanded.
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

The loss allowance for other financial
assets at amortised cost as at 31 December
2024 amounted to HK$154,000 (2023:
HK$154,000) as detailed in Note 19.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and
other financial assets at amortised cost are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and availability of
funding from an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities. Management maintains rolling
forecast of the Group’s liquidity reserves which
comprises undrawn banking facilities and cash and
cash equivalents, on the basis of expected cash
flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the date of financial
reporting to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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B SO B R M

3.

At 31 December 2024

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Interest payment on
borrowings

Lease liabilities

Interest payment on lease
liabilities

At 31 December 2023

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Interest payment on
borrowings

Lease liabilities

Interest payment on lease
liabilities

Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

R-E-=%F
+-A=+—8
2 5 K E M ERIE

fBE
fEEZF B

MEAE

MEREZFE XM
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3. MBRKREE@
3.1 BIEEBER#E
() REEZEZEfE(E)
Less than Between Over

1year 1tob5 years 5 years Total
—FUR —ZERFZH REUE my
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
56,272 - - 56,272
50,455 - - 50,455
705 - - 705
23,467 42,559 - 66,026
2,463 2,068 - 4,531
39,939 - - 39,939
62,168 - - 62,168
985 - - 985
25,518 56,794 - 82,312
2,879 3,441 - 6,320




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total bank borrowings divided by
total equity.

The Group's strategy was to maintain a solid capital
base to support the operations and development of its
business in the long term. Given its existing principal
business, management considers a gearing ratio as
measured by total bank borrowings to total equity of
not more than 50% as solid and reasonable. The table
below analyses the Group's capital structure at 31
December 2024 and 2023 as follows:

Total borrowings BIEE
Total equity HarEns

BERELE

Gearing ratio

B B R W

B SR b B (@)
3.2 EXERERE

AEEEREARN BN RRERE
BaeiFERE  ARBRRIRHE R
WAEMNEAEATREN R -
PAR e 45 R OB AR LURUE E
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REFLRAEEARE - RNEHA
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BIEAR - FITHIRK N EEE AR
DIERS ©
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UTHBEEBERARE - TRAKRE
ER—E-FR T =F+=
B=+—R&REREZ DT :

2024 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

3. Financial risk management (Continued) 3. MBRKREE@

3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AAREEME

The carrying value of trade receivables, other loans
and receivables, bank balances and deposits, trade and
other payables, lease liabilities and borrowings are a
reasonable approximation of their fair values. The fair
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash
flows at the current market interest rate that is available
to the Group for similar financial instruments.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy
as follows:

—  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1)

—  inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2)

—  inputs for the asset and liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3)
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3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

Fair value
Hierarchy

D

Financial assets SREE Level 2
~ Investment funds -REES E-H

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during
the year.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
It includes quoted market price or dealer quotes for
similar instruments. If all significant inputs required to
fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

B B R W

%R SR E)
3.3 AREEM @
Fair value Fair value
as at as at

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
R-E-MmE i S——
t=A=t-8 t-A=t-A

MAREE WA BE
HKS 000 HK$000
TET AT
1,519 1,541
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B SO B R M

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements of the Company are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities of the Group are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Provision for impairment of loan to a related
company, loan to a related party and trade
and other receivables

The policy for provision for impairment of loan to a
related company, loan to a related party and trade
and other receivables of the Group is based on the
evaluation of risk of default and expected credit
losses which involved management’s judgement.
A considerable amount of judgement is required in
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the Group’s
past collection history of receivables, existing market
condition as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. If the financial conditions
of any individual counterparty were determined to be
deteriorated, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional allowances may be
required.

Provision for impairment of inventories

The management of the Group reviews the
marketability of inventory items at the end of each
reporting period, and makes allowance for obsolete
and slow-moving inventory items identified that are no
longer suitable for sale. The management estimates the
net realisable value for inventories based primarily on
the latest invoice prices and current market conditions.
The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of each reporting period
and makes provision for obsolete items.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenue and segment information

The Executive Directors of the Company have been
identified as the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM").
Management determines the operating segments based on
the Group's internal reports, which are then submitted to the
CODM for performance assessment and resources allocation.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the
operating segment based on a measure of profit before
income tax and regard there to be only one operating
segment — trading of construction materials, mainly pipes
and fittings. Accordingly, segment disclosures are not
presented.

The revenue from contracts with customers recognised
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are
trading of construction materials, mainly pipes and fittings,
all of which were recognised at a point in time.

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(i) Sale of goods — wholesale

The Group sells a range of pipes and fittings. Sales are
recognised when control of the products has been
transferred, being when the products are delivered to
the customers, the customer has full discretion over
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products.

Delivery occurs when the products have been shipped
to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the customer, and either
the customer has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have
lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all
criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from the sale of goods is based on the price
specified in the sales contracts. Accumulated experience
is used to estimate provision for returns.

B B R W

WA R D RRE R
HITESHRERRRAZERRE
RE(EERKLERRE]) - EHEGR
BAKEHNABREEELLENH R
BRIERGBERERERRELETENHE
MERDE

WITESREN AN N & EREF G
REDHHKRE - YRRARBREBE—
ERENB-REMKES  TERE
BRIEM o Bt - WEZ5 D IPHEE

BT -_NWFER-_ZT-_=F+=A4
—t+t—BILIFEEEFARMNBA AR
EHMPES  TEREBMEM R
T—B2R5 -

AR 2SR BUR
() #HERmG-HE

AEEEE—RIEBMEM - &
EmizflEERr - ERRN
REFPR  TRPHEMATENAE
T WERAERBITNEGARE
FETPHEMNEIE - BRI
&=

RNNBLEREERDEERTEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B SO B R M

5. Revenue and segment information (Continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition
(Continued)

(i) Sale of goods — wholesale (Continued)

A receivable is recognised when the products
are delivered as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage
of time is required before the payment is due.

Deposits collected from the customers before product
delivery are recognised as contract liabilities.

(i) Sale of goods - retail

The Group operates a chain of retail stores selling pipes
and fittings products. Revenue from the sale of goods
is recognised when a group entity sells a product to
the customer. Payment of the transaction price is due
immediately when the customer purchases the product
and takes delivery in store.

Geographical information

The Group is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s revenues
from external customers by geographical location are
detailed below:

Hong Kong BB
Macau P
Mainland China B A i,

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A

5. WARZHER @)
WATER 2 BT BR (@)

()

(i)

HE R n — H R (&)

EEMXNEER SRR - i
RERRERERTNRREE
MBI Z AT B BB — B
il

EEMRXMNZH - #EPWEHZ
EWHERRERAE -

#HER i —FE&
AEEEREHRTEL  HEEB
REMEmM - HEBRARATIE
SEERATPIHEERSHRER
RGEROXNRAEEFPBEER
WHEERRER AR o

B R HEHR

AEERNEE - AEBERME D FFH
KESNEEFPEHBAMT

Revenue

L'ON

For the year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1t—HLEE

2024 2023
—EMEFE St =
HK$’000 HK$'000
T F#T
725,054 637,052
51,130 70,894
7.318 6,183
783,502 714,129




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O S 5 R M

Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5.

Geographical information (Continued)

The Group’s non-current assets by geographical location are
detailed below:

Hong Kong EB
Macau SRPY
Mainland China AR A

Liabilities related to contracts with customers

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to
contracts with customers:

Contract liabilities — receipts ERA&E - Bk (F1FE27)

in advance (Note 27)

Contract liabilities for sales of goods contracts have increased
by HK$6,886,000 due to the net effect of addition and
utilisation of contract liabilities.

WAR 2 EER @)

HE D EER ()

REBEIZWE D B FEREEMNT ¢

2024 2023

—EE —E-=F

HKS$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

78,630 168,445

2,371 257

1,145 1,088

82,146 169,790
HEFSRERNER

AEBEERUATHRFAREENE

Fo

2024 2023

—E_mEF —E-=F

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FET

24,684 17,798

HESEWaRWERBEEMT
6,886,000/ 7T * meBRNERAERN

SEDNFOH P RO F L E o

)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B SO B R M

5. Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5. WARDIER @)

Liabilities related to contracts with customers HEFEREBNEE#E)
(Continued)
o The following table shows how much of the revenue TRET T ERNRE ARERRBRAF
recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried- B EGELSRAGEERS -
forward contract liabilities:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$000
FET FET
Revenue recognised that was included in 484 R & (&8558
the contract liabilities balance at the EHERARA
beginning of the year 7,425 8,399
6. Other gains, net 6. HfttlzF8E
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
0 Net exchange (loss)/gain BE X (&518) /e 558 (129) 1,567
Gain on lease modification HEBS 2 W 6 -
Gain on early termination of lease IRRIAR I ERR LY 2 Wi 42 10
Net gain on disposal of property, plant  H&EWE - BiE K& 2 WESF
and equipment ¥ 44 11
(Loss)/gain on financial assets at fair value IR A BEFABZ 2 REE
through profit or loss 2 (B8 M (17) 28
Impairment loss on other assets HihBERERE = (499)
Dividend income from financial assets at Z AR BEFABREZ S HEE
fair value through profit or loss Z AR BWA 82 78
Hong Kong Government grants BABUTHED 50 =
78 1,195
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Expenses by nature

Operating profit is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Cost of inventories sold (Note 18)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 15)
Auditor’s remuneration:
—Audit services
—Non-audit services
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Note 13)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14)
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8)
Short-term and low-value lease expenses (Note
14)
Provision for impairment of financial assets
Reversal of provision and write-off of
inventories, net
Other expenses

Representing:

Cost of sales

Selling and distribution costs

General and administrative expenses
Provision for impairment of financial assets

7. BAXHE
Ry, (Gt A) TEEE 43

E

EHEZFERA (HE18)
B EEMNEE (FHRE15)
AT £ :

-BZR%
—-IEEZIRTS

W - BB KRREITE (Y
i13)

ERREESNE (iE14)

BE®EHMF X (58

RHREEERERER (M
i14)

TREEMNRERSE

T 5 F 1 [ ¢ e i 5B

HAibFx

&

SHERAR

HHE KD HKA
—REITHER
TREEMNRERSE

Ty
RSy

B B R W

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
526,090 512,443
223 51
1,430 1,390
218 205
3,178 2,029
24,755 23,689
88,560 75,872
566 453
5,340 52
(514) (3,519)
41,335 40,054
691,181 652,719
536,554 519,478
25,230 23,961
124,057 109,228
5,340 52
691,181 652,719

)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B SO B R M

8. Employee benefit expenses 8. EETFMEX
2024 2023
—E_EF —EC=4F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Wages, salaries and other benefits I8 - #HrekEMEd 86,071 73,632
Pension costs — defined contribution IRIRSRAR - ERREFGETE

plans 2,489 2,240
88,560 75,872

(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) EfuEEHFAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include three (2023:
two) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis shown in Note 32. The emoluments paid to the
remaining two (2023: three) individuals were as follows:

Salaries and other short-term He RHEME R REERT
employee benefits

Discretionary bonus FOEIEAL

Pension costs — defined contribution — ERE A — EEBHEREHE
plans

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A

RER  AEEBRNSESHFALE
B (CTZ=F: ZfDES -
HEHESERWERMOMRM -
NFPHB_A(ZCBEZ=F : =)
AT ZE&T

2024 2023
—EF —E-=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
3,799 5,200
1,545 1,698

36 54

5,380 6,952




8.

Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (a)

(b)

The emoluments of the two (2023: three) individuals fell

within the following bands:

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000

1,000,0017%7T - 1,500,000 7T
1,500,001 7T - 2,000,0007% 7T
2,000,001 7T - 2,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001 7T - 3,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001 T - 3,500,000/ 7T

Senior management remuneration by band (b)

The remuneration of senior management fell within the

following bands:

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001-HK$3,500,000

1,000,00187T - 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001%7T - 2,000,000/ 7T
2,000,001/ - 2,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001/ 7T - 3,000,000/ 7T
3,000,001/ - 3,500,000/ 7T

B B R W

8. EEEMNHAX@®

AVESEFHAL @)
“H(CEC=F ZR)REFA
TZFHMNFTHNEBE :

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
1 2

1 1

EREEAEHM 2 EHE

RAREBABZHHMN T T &
g

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=F
1 —

3 4

1 1

5 5

e

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 %% $§ 95



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

9. Finance income, net

Bank interest income

Other interest income

Interest expense on bank borrowings

Interest expense on lease liabilities
(Note 14)

10. Tax expense

0 Current taxation:
Hong Kong profits tax
Overseas tax

(Over)/under provision in prior years

Total current tax
Deferred taxation (Note 26):

Origination and reversal of temporary

differences

Tax expense

9. BMBWRAFHE

2024 2023
—E-NOEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
ER1TH BUA 10,919 8,566
EF B A 4,596 4,413
RITEEZFBXH (4,016) (3,180)
HEaGE e (FiE14)
(3,013) (3,560)
8,486 6,239
10. HIEZH
2024 2023
—F-MF bt S
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
BNHARAIE:
BBEF G 15,588 9,610
YEINEIR 79 =
AFFE (ZR) /D8R (232) 76
BIHEATR B 4B RE 15,435 9,686
EFEFIA (Fi5E26):
RS = R 2 A N [ B
(1,770) 768
RIEX N 13,665 10,454

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for
the year. Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated
on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates
of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

96 CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # Bl T 2 &£ B AR 2 7

BT SR AF RIA R F R
E16.5% (ZFB_=4F : 16.5%):T1& °
YEINRIE TR IR F 2 (h T FE AR R v A
BRASECEEBBRRZBITHRES

H o
A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

10. Tax expense (Continued) 10. BIIEX H (@)

AEBBBBANGN 2 HES hEERE
RERBNEHREMAEZERTEL

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong

Kong profits tax rate as follows: ZRWNT :
2024 2023
—EB-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$000
TFET TFET
Profit before income tax TR AT 100,885 68,844
Tax calculated at a rate of 16.5% (2023: IZFE16.5% (ZFE = =4 :

16.5%) 16.5%) 5t E 2 Hi1A 16,646 11,359
Effect of different tax rates in other HAib Bl AT TR R 2 8

jurisdictions 569 (108)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax B)FA B RKHER 2 FHIEEE

losses (401) -
Unrecognised tax losses REERTIEE R 90 301
Tax effect of income not subject to AR Z WA Z TRIER &

taxation (1,543) (1,235)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for NAJHIFE 2 % i~ TR A £

taxation purposes 273 226
Over-provision for deferred tax liabilities AEFE ZIRIELFIAE &

in prior years (1,572) -
Effect of two-tiered profit tax rate regime FISF AR 5 2 F228 (Hf7E)

(note) (165) (165)
(Over)/under provision in prior years INEFE (Z1R)/D1R (232) 76
Tax expense FITE H 13,665 10,454
Note: iz -

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in Hong Kong, the first
HK$2 million of profits of qualifying corporations (only one entity is
allowed within the Group) will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of corporations not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to
be taxed at 16.5%.

REBEDEFSHEMAH  2ERCEEBA
RAF—EE%8)HE2,000,000/8 7T F#%
1%8.25% KB =& - kA 2,000,000 7T
2w A2 16.5% M F EEAF - THEFIE
TR AR BAR R D 3w F S B E1216.5%

BB

|
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

11. Earnings per share 1. BREBF

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is
based on the profit for the year attributable to equity holders
and weighted average number of ordinary shares with
adjustments where applicable as follows:

Profit attributable to equity holders of ~ FHESREAREF) 2 A A R

the Company for the purpose of basic ~ #8 A JE{5 % 7
earnings per share

Number of shares BHEE

TRINRAESRER R EERF TR
BFEARSFEARGRNREET
BB ke I R (FF 25 T 0ASH

) :

Weighted average number of ordinary 5T H GIRERZEF 2 FiBAR N 2

It REK

shares for the purpose of basic
earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
to assume conversion of dilutive potential ordinary shares
arising from the Company’s share options. Diluted earnings
per share is of the same amount as the basic earnings per
share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7

2024 2023
—E-ImEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAETT FET
87,220 58,390
Thousands Thousands
FiR FAE
1,332,266 1,332,266

FTESREERTE  cHEETER
B 2 INAEF AR ERE A2 - DARERFR
BEEEE N 2 RITF B IREER S
o BREERNEGREARZFE
B WIERBEE T _NFEER_-FT
T=EF+ - RA=+—HItFEELERIT
FRBEEEL R -



12.

13.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Dividend

At the Board meeting held on 26 March 2025, the Board did
not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

Property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant, machinery and equipment 3-10 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years or the lease
period, if shorter

Office furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years
fittings

Office equipment 3-5 years

Computer equipment 3-5 years

Motor vehicles 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount and are recognised within
‘Other gains, net’ in the consolidated income statement.

See Note 34.5 for the other accounting policies relevant to
property, plant and equipment.

12.

13.

B B R W

HJ'L A_A
\:%:ﬂ%Zﬂ—+ﬁEﬁﬁm%$
gL BEEFCTEBREEE
—FE+=—A=+— EtiEZX%k
B(ZEZ=F ) -

M - BENRE

WE - BERREZITE - HIREEMA
HAlE A FHRAERRIEERAED

BT RIREBEE - SEETAIFEAFH
N
WE - W REE  3E105F
HEMERE SFHEE
(A= E)
WAEERM 3E54F
&
XAiERR A 3E5F
BIGEAE 3E54F
RE 3&E545F

BENNREENTERFHESES
BB RBETR - REEERER

%Eko

HWEEENKREESNEGF AT LD
18 - HERmE{ERIE MO E AT U B E -

8 2 5 0 R A R L P18 3R R AR
BfETE WA UEER R E s
SFHEER -

WE - BERRERENEMETK

£
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

13. Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Cost

At 1 January 2024
Exchange differences
Additions
Disposals

At 31 December 2024

Accumulated
depreciation
At 1 January 2024
Exchange differences
Charge for the year
Disposals

At 31 December 2024

Net book value
At 31 December 2024

13. ¥1% - BERRE @

Plant, Office
machinery furniture,
and  Leasehold fixtures and Office ~ Computer Motor
equipment  improvements fittings  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
BE-  HENE BOERM-
HERRE % RERRE ERE  EERE RE “ag
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
&7 TE7 TE7 TEx TET TET &7
A
R-B-R¥-A-H 4,080 10,247 2,1 49 8,976 18,199 43,762
EHER = = (14) = (1) (10) (25)
hE 682 1,134 320 13 349 - 2,498
tE (474) (73) - (13) - ()] (631)
RZB-WE+ZA
SiiiaH 4,288 11,308 2,517 49 9324 18,118 45,604
e
RZZT-MF-A—A 3,786 6,715 1,237 49 2,706 18,008 32,501
EXEE - = (3) = = (10) (13)
AEEHE 316 1,006 266 2 1493 95 3,178
e (474) (62) = (13) = )] (620)
RZB=mE+ZA
Er=F 3,628 7,659 1,500 38 4,199 18,022 35,046
REFE
St Sd 2 |
=t+-R 660 3,649 1,017 1" 5,125 96 10,558
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B IR RE
13. Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 13. Y% - BERRKE @)
Plant, Office
machinery fumiture,
and Leasehold  fixtures and Office  Computer Motor
equipment  improvements fittings  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
BrE #&E  BEME BRERA-
k& £ KERRE XERE BB AE o]

HKS000  HKS000  HKS0O0 - HKSO00 - HKSOO0  HKST000  HKS'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

Cost KA
At 1 January 2023 A g
H 4,328 9,039 1,778 49 2,904 18,120 36,218
Exchange differences ~ TESE% - - 2 S ) ) 9
Additions "E - 1,439 550 - 6,125 85 8,199
Disposals & (248) (231) (115) - (52) = (646)

At31December 2023 H=ZF-=%+=A

=t-H 4,080 10,247 221 49 8,976 18,199 43,762
Accumulated ZitE
depreciation
At 1 January 2023 R-Z-=%—R
—H 3810 6,248 1,137 49 1,945 17,936 31125
Exchange differences ~ EXEE - = = = (M (6) 0
Charge for the year TEERE 24 698 215 - 814 78 2,029
Disposals & (248) (231) (115) - (52) = (646)

At31December 2023 RZZE-=%F+=f

Sar=lg 3,786 6,715 1,237 49 2,706 18,008 32,501
Net book value REFE
At31December 2023  RZTZ=%+-A
=t+-H 294 3,532 974 = 6,270 191 11,261
Depreciation was recorded in the following categories: FrERUA TSR -
2024 2023
—E-WEF —F_=fF
HK$°000 HK$000
FET T
General and administrative expenses —MRITHER 3,178 2,029
e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B SO B R M

14. Lease

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows
the following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets
Buildings
Equipment

Total right-of-use assets

Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current

Total lease liabilities

At 1 January

Addition

Depreciation

Lease modification

Early termination of lease

At 31 December

EHEEE
BF
B

[EREEERR

HERE
inE)
FRE

HERERRE

R—HA—H
NE

e
HEEN
HERTAR LEARAY

R+=-—A=+—~8

Additions to the right-of-use assets amounted to
HK$11,032,000 during the year ended 31 December

2024 (2023: HK$5,751,000).

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A

14. fHE

() FEMBRRAERIERNESEE
?é%ﬁ#ﬂﬁiﬂuTﬁﬁﬂﬁ
o=

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
R-ZE-ME RZEZ=F
+=A=+—H +=-A=+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
56,220 71,377
1,698 1,410
57,918 72,787
23,467 25,518
42,559 56,794
66,026 82,312
2024 2023
—EEF —EC-o=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
72,787 91,998
11,032 5,751
(24,755) (23,689)
(229) -
917) (1,273)
57,918 72,787
FRAEEERBEZE T _NF+=A

== Eltirﬁ‘M11oszoo&%n:

(zT==

£ 1 5,751,00057T) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

14. Lease (Continued) 14. HE #®)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following
amounts relating to lease:

Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (H:E7)

(Note 7)
Buildings BF
Equipment B

(b) FEWFERPEANEH

FANERZINTEEEE S

g
P

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—RHLEE

Interest expense on lease liabilities MEaE2 M EZH (fHEE9)

(Note 9)

The total cash payment for lease amounted to
HK$29,703,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$27,198,000).

Short-term and low-value I REEBEHEEER
lease expense (Note 7) (BF3E7)

(c) The Group's leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, retail
shops and staff quarters. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 1 to 10 years but may have
extension options as described below. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain various
terms and conditions.

2024 2023
—E-F o=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FET
24,256 23,229
499 460
24,755 23,689
3,013 3,560

BE-_Z-_NE+-_A=+—RBILFEE
BEHEE 2R S 4R%EE 429,703,000
BT (ZZE =4 : 27,198,000/ 7T) ©

566 453

() AEENEEEBRAEARA
=X

AEBHAEZEARAE - 2FE =T
EERBIES -HH—KRETAH
HA1Z= 104 - HERTREARIR T > Pt
HEHERE - HEKRFIRERIEE
W BB E S BN RIERRAEM

|
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B B R W

14. HE ®)
(d) BEHARKIRIZRE

AEEMFDEEERSEEM
RIDRERE - BLRTNERBES
EREERERMIREREEIEZESD
BRAE o REBDBEMR LEER
ERAKETRE - MIFHBRAH
HATTEE -

15. B EE

14. Lease (Continued)
(d) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a

0 number of property leases across the Group. These
terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in
terms of managing contracts. The majority of extension
and termination options held are exercisable only by the
Group and not by the respective lessor.

15. Intangible assets

2024 2023

Trademark 5L —E-EF S

HK$000 HK$'000

TFET FET

Opening net book amount B e AR EFE 273 324

Amortisation for the year INEHEGH (51) (51)

Closing net book amount HRM R FE 222 273
Software CIgLs

Opening net book amount HYIMEREHE = -

Addition NE 1,206 -

Amortisation for the year NG s (172) -

Closing net book amount HRAAREDFE 1,034 =

Total Bt 1,256 273

HEZZ-_MF+-_A=+—H1HF
B BHEMAS51,0008 (2=
£ : 51,0008 7T) BT ASHERKA] (f
FL7) o B EHFI 172,000 70(20234F ¢
)T AR RITEER] (FiFE7)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, amortisation expense
of HK$51,000 (2023: HK$51,000) is included in “cost of
sales” (Note 7). Amortisation expense of HK$172,000 (2023:
Nil) is included in “general and administrative expenses”
(Note 7).
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16. Subsidiaries

Details of principal subsidiaries which, in the Directors’
opinion, materially affect the results and/or net assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, are set out in Note 33.

B B R W

16. B2 =]

EERREARBEZEENR TN
“HOFE+-A=t1t— Ez/ﬁéﬁﬁﬁki
AREEZ TEMBRR ZFIGHNME
33°

17. Financial instruments by category 17. REFESNERTA
2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=fF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Financial assets included in BREEGEHBRRRNESRME
consolidated statement of financial ZE:
position:
Financial assets at amortised cost D/ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁf%ﬁ’]’f%ﬁﬁ%
Trade receivables, deposits and other B SRUGRIA « 1 R EAE
receivables kIR 294,229 280,409
Pledged bank deposits (Note 21) BRI (HFE21) 46,000 46,000
Cash and bank balances (Note 22) Re RIRTT4EH (f17E22) 283,029 229,244
Financial assets at fair value through BEARBE ABZ
profit or loss (Note 20) S BEEMFIRE20) 1,519 1,541
Total O] 624,777 557,194
2024 2023
—BomE —F-_=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FEIT
Financial liabilities included in BEEFEUERIENESHE
consolidated statement of financial f&:
position:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost D EA AT ERN SR B E
Trade and other payables B 5 R E A ERTRIE 56,272 39,939
Borrowings (Note 25) &E (fFzE25) 50,455 62,168
Lease liabilities (Note 14(a)) HEBE (irE14@)) 66,026 82,312
Total FkE 172,753 184,419
)
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18.

19.

Inventories
Accounting policies of inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

]

Merchandises &

At 31 December 2024, the provision for impairment of
inventories amounted to approximately HK$9,922,000 (2023:
HK$13,971,000).

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included
in cost of sales amounted to HK$526,090,000 (2023:
HK$512,443,000) (Note 7).

Trade and other receivables
Accounting policies of trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods
sold in the ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are
generally due for settlement within the credit period and
therefore are all classified as current.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
other receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A

18.

19.

r&

FEZETBER
FERKAR A2 FEME 2 RIEE
SIBR o RANTHZINBEFIEEE - A2
RHERABEBREF A EERE
Rz AT ERXETE

2024 2023
—EME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
246,388 217,326

R-Z-mE+—A=+—8 " F&ER
ERHR3E9,922,0008T (T ==
4F : 13,971,000/ 7T) °

BERATHWINABEEXRNB N2 HFE
Ak AN##526,090,000/8 7T (ZE=-=4 :
512,443,000/ 7T) (M5E7) °

B 5 Rk H bR WRRIE
EZREMEBWRRE 2S5 HE

BHRKHIBERNBFEEBREPHE
EmmEKREFHIE - BHRKKIEA—
REEEEHANEN  BEHERRR
) o

H 5 R REIEN S RE B ES
2 BIEEBEEARMER
5 RAABERE - AEEBEY
PREMBKEE - BOLKDANE
STE - EURA E R R R R 8
AiHE -
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B B R W

19. Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables
Less: loss allowance (Note 3.1(b)(ii))

Prepayments to suppliers

Loan to a related party (Note 30(f))

Rental deposits

Other receivables, deposits and other
assets

Less: loss allowance (Note 3.1(b)(ii))

Loan to a related company (Note 30(d))
Less: loss allowance (Note 3.1(b)(ii))

Total of trade and other receivables,
deposits and prepayments
Less: included in non-current assets
Rental deposits and other assets
Loan to a related party (Note 30(f))

Loan to a related company
(Note 30(d))

Included in current assets

19.

B WA
B E R (MRS 1(0)Gi)

HEmRTAR R

BT —IRRE AL (HTFE30(f)
HEZS

Hib MR - REREMEE

B EREHE (3. (b))

BT —ERE A (FEE30(d)
B EE RS (FEE3.1(0)Gi)

85 MEMREFIR -
Be RBENRERE
B BREEFRRBEET
HEREMNEAMEE
ERT—REAL
(fYEE30(F)
ERT—REEAR
(M45E30(d))

BRERBEET

B 5 Kk E At EWRRE @)

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
202,222 188,649
(6,655) (1,315)
195,567 187,334
95,860 90,972
5,000 -
6,545 6,510
9,315 8,283
(30) (30)
116,690 105,735
77,956 78,436
(124) (124)
77,832 78,312
390,089 371,381
(7,414) (7,157)
(5.000) =
= (78,312)
377,675 285,912

|
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B B R W

19. EZ REMEBYRKIE @)

BIRNEFOR - A RUGRARIES 2
FRESRERSEAAEBERS

19. Trade and other receivables (Continued)
The carrying amounts of trade receivables, other receivables

and deposits approximate their fair values.

AEEE SR HMREWIRZ RE SR
ATHIEHEHE -

o The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023

—BoEF —Fo=F

HK$'000 HK$°000

FET FET

HK$ BIT 203,196 189,578
RMB AR 5,798 1,294
usD =T 174,627 171,373
MOP SRPTHE 6,461 9,136
EUR BT 7 =
390,089 371,381

The Group generally grants credit period of 60-90 days to its
customers for its trading of pipes and fittings operation. The
ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the invoice

date is as follows:

AEE—RETEBREMHBSEBE
FZIEEMR0REIOK - B F UG
TRIRBERZ A R DITAOT

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=4F

HKS$'000 HK$°000

FETT FEIT

Within 30 days 30 54,768 53,244
31 to 60 days 31KE60XK 57,534 51,667
61 to 90 days 61 X290K 44,897 41,352
91 to 120 days 91 KE120K 16,171 22,528
Over 120 days HBiE120K 28,852 19,858
202,222 188,649

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7
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B B R W

Trade and other receivables (Continued) 19. EZ R HMEBEWRIE @)
The closing loss allowance for all trade receivables reconcile FTE & 5 EWGRIB R AR & 18 R i H1 ER
to the opening loss allowance are as follows: E R AR EIRNT -
HK$'000
T
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=F+-A=+—HaEERE (1,315)
Loss allowance for trade receivables B S EWGRIBR B R R E (5,340)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 RZZE-NF+ - A=+—HrEEEE (6,655)
The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring AREBRBE BT BHRE LD EIRE
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss b AT EEEEEE - RFIEES
allowance for all trade receivables. FEWGRIE B B F B B H) TE BB 18 7
1% o
There was loss allowance of HK$6,655,000 for trade RZZBZMF+_A=+—H Z5E
receivables as at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$1,315,000). WSk TE /Y E5 1B 55 56,655,000 7T
(ZZ==% : 1,315,000/ 7T) °
Information about the impairment of trade receivables and EHE 5 RUGRIERE &A% B iR
the Group's exposure to foreign exchange risk and credit risk HNEE [ B2 I 15 B R B 1 & R 8 A B 5
can be found in Note 3.1. 3.1°
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is RBEBBHz&ERNEERR A LLEE
the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned above. FEWGRIE 2 DB o BR EXXFRIRERSN -
Save as disclosed above, the Group does not hold any B ER A AR R EE R o
collateral as security.
Financial assets at fair value through profit 20. RAAREBEFABRZERMEE
or loss
Classification of financial assets at fair value RARBEFABRZEMEEN
through profit or loss o |
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following SEEN T 2SR EE#ETT
measurement categories: pay I
- those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either — REUAREEF=(BEHZEE
through OCl or through profit or loss), and AEMERERESIER) e E
E &
- those to be measured at amortised cost. — DA ENEREE o
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20. Financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss (Continued)

Classification of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (Continued)

20.

BAABESARSZEMEE
(4)
BRAAEEABBEZEREED
AR

o s o \
The classification depends on the Group'’s business model for ZOBEBUAREBEESMEENER
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of BRUARZEENERRSMEREL -
the cash flows.

2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Investment funds at fair value — unlisted RARBEMNEEES—IFLH 1,519 1,541

21. Pledged bank deposits 21. SIEARITER
As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits of HK$46,000,000 RZE-_WMFE+=ZA=+—8 "
(2023: HK$46,000,000) denominated in HK$ were pledged as 46,000,000 c (=T - =F
collateral for the Group’s banking facilities (Note 25). 46,000,000 7T) LA JTRHE 2 RITHF
HETUAER - EAREBRITEERE

&2 AR (BfteE25)
0 The effective interest rate on pledged bank deposits was EERBOERIERANEZRF R

3.32% (2023: 3.92%) per annum and these deposits are
maturing within 20 to 196 days (2023: 15 to 353 days).

22. Restricted bank balances and cash and cash

equivalents

SR BIRITAEER (HEE ()
Re MReFEY I (i)

Restricted bank balances (note (i)
Cash and cash equivalents (note (ii))

Maximum exposure to credit risk EEZNEREERR

110
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22.

332%(ZE-=% :3.92%) ' ItZETF
RZEEBANTF20KE196K (Z T ==
£ : 15KE353K) °

ZREBITEE RERREF
(=€

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,070 1,106
281,959 228,138
283,029 229,244
282,746 228,863
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B U B
22. Restricted bank balances and cash and cash 22. ZRHWTHEER  RERBEE
equivalents (Continued) EY @

Notes: BiE -

()  The amount under the restricted bank balances as at 31 () RZZTZmOF+=ZA=+—8  ZR
December 2024 of HK$1,070,000 (2023: HK$1,106,000) HISR1T4582R0© 581,070,000 L (=&
represents funds deposited in bank accounts designated for Z =% :1,106,000/%7T) * FENIETEIR
operating the Group’s cross-border payment business. The TERPTFARRKCEAREBBIER N
balance is denominated in RMB. BHWES - BHRUARBE -

(i) Included in cash and cash equivalents were HK$161,639,000 (i BekBA2SEBEVBREEATHRT
(2023: HK$135,410,000) and HK$56,134,000 (2023: FRERAR=MEAAZRITHER
HK$48,158,000) bank deposits with original maturities 161,639,000 L (Z T =% :
within three months and between three to twelve months, 135,410,000 7L) MR A=+ =
respectively, which are placed as time deposits. 18 A 2 $R1T71F3K56,134,000%8 L (= F

— =4F : 48,158,000 7T) °

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash AEBEReRReESEM KBS
equivalents are denominated in the following currencies: RATEBEHE

2024 2023

—EBoME —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FETT FETT

HK$ BT 236,313 183,928

RMB AR 12,656 12,167

usb ET 29,448 25,618

Others Hth 3,542 6,425

281,959 228,138

Funds of the Group amounting to approximately AREEES4 515,679,000 (==

HK$15,679,000 (2023: HK$19,989,000) are kept in the — =4 :19,989,000/ 1) IF A

bank accounts opened with banks in the PRC where the HRITHR ZIRITERPS - BEHE£BX

remittance of funds is subject to foreign exchange control. SNEE ] o
)
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23. Share capital

At 1 January and 31 December 2023 i

At 1 January and 31 December 2024

(a)

(b)

Issued shares

The authorised share capital of the Company was
HK$500,000,000, comprising 25,000 million shares
with a par value of HK$0.02 per share. All issued shares
are fully paid.

Share option scheme

At the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 21 May 2015, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a new share option scheme
(the “2015 Scheme”) under which the directors of
the Company may grant options to eligible persons to
subscribe for the Company'’s shares subject to the terms
and conditions as stipulated therein. Unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, the 2015 Scheme will remain
valid for a period of 10 years from the date of its
adoption.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7

23. ®R&

Number of
shares issued
CRITROEE
Thousands HK$000
iz FET
1,332,266 26,645
1,332,266 26,645

(a) SBRITRA

KA EEERZA /500,000,000
Br o BEBR®EE0.02B T
25,000,000,000% 485X - i B2
TROHEBHE -

(b) BBARMESTE

R-ZE—RAFREA-+—H&ET2
AARBEBFAREG E - AQFA
RE AL R AT B ([ =&
—RFED B ARRES
AREERALRHBRE R
BANGRG AR —AF
ST BIFRTE Z R R ETIRIR © B
BITEUHSASETIN - ZFE—RFRT
Zi5 B H R4 B B ET T+ F AR 4
BAEM -
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23. Share capital (Continued)

(b) Share option scheme (Continued)

The Company was authorised to grant share options
under the 2015 Scheme for subscription of up to a total
of 133,226,600 shares, representing 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of adoption.
The directors of the Company are authorised at their
absolute discretion, to invite any eligible participants as
defined in the Scheme, to take up options to subscribe
for shares in the Company. The subscription price will
be determined by the Board, but shall be at least the
highest of (a) the closing price of shares as stated in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date on which the relevant options are deemed to
be granted and accepted in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme (“the Commencement Date"”), which
must be a day on which the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
is open for the business of dealing in securities (“Trading
Day”); (b) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
guotation sheet for the five Trading Days immediately
preceding the Commencement Date; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares. A consideration of HK$10
is payable on acceptance of the grant of option. The
maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2015 Scheme may not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of adoption of the 2015 Scheme. The
number of shares may be refreshed by the approval of
the shareholders and the refreshed limit of the number
of shares must not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the approval
of the refreshed limit.

As at 31 December 2024, no share option under the
2015 Scheme was granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed (2023: Nil).

B B R W

23. IRZ& (#%)
(b) BRAESHE @)

RARVEREREBE-_S—RAF:
AR EREARERZ AKX
133,226,6008% %170 + (hIAEAN B
HARBEBITRAZI10% &
BERNREZERBBEETWNE
BR2mE (TE LERETE) &
N A REBAN A BIRR (D 2 BEARAE - 3R
BEBHESSET ' HETEER
(@B B BRI R AR R
fe iR BRI B R mE B ([F
WEH]) (BAEEBHITEEE
HFEEEHB2AHIRSBINE
BB RIEHRERATIR T
& ()OI EEEFA B ERpEE
AERSBHEEEHI AT ARE
KAk 2 FHWHE  ROBRKHE
E-HFZHReE BEHARLZE
DEERRIERE - AR AEZ10 T
ZRE - BREBE-E—REHEEL
2RISR o BhREEE - T
BRBREM—E—RAEHEAEHAE
NAIBETRAZ10% ° BIDEE
A AR R ETEFT - AT 2R
DEE ERTEBEETH LR
ZBHADNBEBEITRAZ10% °

R-FB-_MOFE+—A=+—H =
T —RFFHEIR T AR
X 17 s ER(CT =
FE) e

|
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24. Reserves 24. f#fE
Capital Merger
Share feserve reserve  Statutory Other  Exchange  Retained
premium (note(i)  (note(ii) reserve reserve feserve  eamings Total
ExgE  ANRE
REEE (RGO  (WEG)  RRE  HBRE  EZRE 2R %
S0 S0 HKS 000 000 HS000 S0 HS000 HS000
At January 2023 A 126,552 uNs 3700 U 2407 24 477934 045,026
Profitfor the year KEEEH - - - - - e 58390 5390
Curtency trandltion differences SEREEE = = = = e (147) = (147)
Actuarialloss on postemployment benefit BB AETIEENRESE
obligations, netof tax MaREE - - - = (133 = s (133)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
126,552 #1115 3,700 U 2074 147 536,324 103,136
Profit for the year - - - - - - 81220 87,20
Curtency trandltion differences FHAEER - - - - - 2 - )]
Actuarial gan on postemployment benefit BB AETERDEENE
obligatons, net of tax e - - - - 18 - - 18
At 31 December 2024 R-Z-RE+ZAZt-B 2655 34115 370 u 29 19 635 7%03%
Notes: Bsr
(i) The capital reserve of the Group mainly represents contribution () AEBMZEAREBEEXEER—NNANEF

from the shareholders in connection with the acquisition of the
remaining interests in a subsidiary in 1999.

(i)  The merger reserve of the Group arising from the Group
reorganisation is determined by the difference between the
nominal value of shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the Group reorganisation and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares deemed to have been issued.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A

WhE—EEBARZ A T ERERRE
PRV ERL

AEBREEEAEMEL Z A HHREE -
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B B R W

25. Borrowings 25. B8
2024 2023
—ECNEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT

Current TRE

Trust receipt loans, secured (note (i) BIEFETUIEE R HEEG) 35,884 31,252
Trust receipt loans, unsecured EIRETEURIEER 14,571 30,916
50,455 62,168

Notes: BiE -
(i) The carrying amounts of the trust receipt loans approximate () GERUEEFRs EEHSHERFESZAR

their fair values. As at 31 December 2024, there were
banking facilities of approximately HK$262,300,000 (2023:
HK$312,300,000) of which approximately HK$200,210,000
(2023: HK$245,783,000) had not been utilised. These banking
facilities were secured by corporate guarantees and bank
deposits of HK$46,000,000 (2023: HK$46,000,000).

(i) The borrowings are denominated in the following currency:

HK$ BIT

(iii)  The effective interest rates (per annum) of bank borrowings at
the financial reporting date are as follows:

Trust receipt loans EElEER

(ii)

(iii)

EHE RIE-_NF+_/F=+—
B - R1TRVE 42%5849/5262,300,00078
T(ZZE==4% :312,300,000/87T)
H49200,210,0008 T (B =-=
1 245,783,000/ 7T) M ARENA © %
ZRITHEHDANERRBTERY
46,000,000 JTCIEIEIR (Z 2 =4 -
46,000,000/ 7T) ©

fEEATFIEHFIE -

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FETT FHETT
50,455 62,168

REBHRER - RITEBEEZERFRE
R

2024 2023
—EUEF —T-=F
6.39% 6.65%

Q
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L A AR B
26. Deferred taxation 26. EFERIE
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIBEE (1,092) (2,859)

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary differences under the
liability method using tax rates of the relevant subsidiaries
applicable to the period when the asset is expected to be
realised or the liability to be settled, based on tax rates that
have been substantively enacted by the financial reporting
date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and
liabilities relate to income tax levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on
a net basis.

The net movement on the deferred tax account is as follows:

At 1 January n—H—H
Credited/(charged) to income R RPEFAS
statement (Note 10) (F0BR) (FI5E10)
(Charged)/credited to equity fEREzs R (F0BR) /AT A
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H

The movement in deferred tax liabilities during the year,
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances
within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7

ELERBERAEEEINEAHBARE
HEESRNABRE CHRMER
HE(RPBRE B CEMNELRT)
TER A -

iéﬁ*ﬁiii*éﬂﬁH%Eﬂﬁﬁ%)%lﬁ;éfﬁéﬁiﬂﬂﬂﬂ
HIREEEE - ﬁﬁLLﬂ%’Iﬁﬁﬁ)}‘
BMIARES K FE— R -
BRI A RIH T E A ERKE A Tﬁ,uﬂv
BRELUF AR - AISEERIAEE
EREN IR BE G AR o

BETARR B 2 SBFRWT ¢

2024 2023
—F-MF b S
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET T
(2,859) (2,117)
1,770 (768)

(3) 26
(1,092) (2,859)

BELERARBERFRN 2 E8 CRet kR
RREWIR AR AR T



26. Deferred taxation (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

26. IELERE #@)

Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE
Remeasurement
loss/(gain)
of post-
employment
Accelerated tax benefit
depreciation obligations Lease Total
BRARTIER
HEE
MEHENE  BE/ kR fE ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000
F37 FET FET FAT
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=%-F—H (152) (475) (1,490) 2,117
Charged to income statement FlRGERPR (686) = 82) (768)
Credited to equity ERRTFA 26 - 26
At 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=#+-A=+-Bk
1 January 2024 “E-NE—A-H (449) (1,572) (2,859)
Credited to income statement EUERPEHA - - 198
Qver provision in prior years WEEESR - 1,572 1,572
Charged to equity BTG (3) = (3)
At 31 December 2024 RIZ-ME+-R=+-H (452) - (1,092)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through the future taxable profits is
probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income tax
assets of HK$1,989,000 (2023: HK$1,922,000) in respect
of accumulated tax losses amounting to HK$9,059,000
(2023: HK$8,758,000) as at 31 December 2024, that can
be carried forward against future taxable income. As at 31
December 2024, the accumulated tax losses amounting to
HK$5,816,000 (2023: HK$5,611,000) will be expired within
five years. There is no expiry period for the remaining tax
losses.

EEFTSHIBEE T A FEMRRE RS
Pz el BB A RERT R A ZIEm
MATEE s MIBEBEELRER - A%
By AT -_WmFE+_A=+—
Bri&E K ERRERTERAZ
Rt HIEEIE9,059,000B L (= F
— =4 : 8,758,000/ 7T ) HER IR T F
BRIIEEE1,989,0008 T (- =
F :1,922,00087C) c RZZT ZO4F
+—A=+—8: ZER2FAHEE
B##5,816,0008 (=T ==
5,611,000/70) * R AFAEIH] - K
th 56 TE 5 18 N0 4 v HB R o
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B SO B R M

27. Trade payables, other payables and contract 27. ESEMARIE - HENSRIER

liabilities BRAE
2024 2023
4 bt 1:F:2 —To=%
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FEr
Trade payables B SR 48,532 30,144
Contract liabilities ERAE 24,684 17,798
Accrued expenses and other payables ~ FEIR & & EAthfE 7B 19,338 20,156
92,554 68,098

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables, based on REFE G EMNTIBEBHEERIZEZAHE
the invoice date, is as follows: ST :

Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, other
payables and contract liabilities are denominated in the

following currencies:

HK$
usb
RMB
Others

30KIA
31 RE60K
61 RKZE90K
EBEI0K

BTT
E v
AR
Hith

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
39,080 23,600
5,139 2,190
1,935 3,140
2,378 1,214
48,532 30,144

AEE B HRNFIA - HMENFIR
ReRaEZRESRRATEE

H:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
43,454 37,226
38,440 22,287
4,343 926
6,317 7,659
92,554 68,098




28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

Commitments

Capital commitments

28.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have capital
commitments (2023: Nil) contracted for but not provided for

in the consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 29.

flows

Cash flows from operations

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for:
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment, net (note)
Interest income
Interest expense
Provision for impairment of
financial assets
Impairment loss on other assets
Reversal of provision and write-off of
inventories, net
Gain on lease modification
Gain on early termination of lease
Loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss
Dividend income from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Exchange difference
Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables,
other payables and contract liabilities

Net cash generated from operations

75 BT 7

SR TPIEHFHE

W% - BB KRR R
e

EREEENE

HEWE - BERREZ
Yoz % e (Y RE)

FEHA

MBS

TRBEEMNRERRE

HiEERERR
7 SR [0 8 S a5 58

HE B W
TRATAR LR 2 ek
BAREEFARRZ
TRVEEMNE R/ ()
BAofEBEFABEZ
TREEMBRERA
PE S EER

LERCRE

FE (B /R
B 5 M AR ISR N

TRIE
BAEIE

R-ZE-_WNE+—_A=+—H K&EE
REFINAR(CE=_=Z : ) EBNHX
RERA B TS MRaR B B A RIE -

FERERBRHEE

EEEBEESBERE

B RNFIR - Bt ENFIR

KERABEEINORD)

REXBEL 2R FER

2024 2023
—BomE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
100,885 68,844
223 51
3,178 2,029
24,755 23,689

(44) (11)

(15,515) (12,979)
7,029 6,740
5,340 52

= 499

(514) (3,519)

(6) -

(42) (10)

17 (28)

(82) (78)

613 (45)
(28,548) 29,896

(19,454) (68,981)

25,057 (5,764)
102,892 40,385
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B SO B R M

29. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 29. KEBEERERKT @

flows (Continued)
Cash flows from operations (Continued) REEBELECHEREHE

Hrat - HEME - BERRBZAERIEAER

Note: Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A

o comprises: ¥
2024 2023
—E-mEF S
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Net book amount BREFAE 11 =
Gain on disposal & 2 s 44 1
Proceeds from disposal HEFTSKIA 55 11
Represented by: (&3
Cash B 55 1
The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities SRUEBEENBENEERAT
is as follows:
Borrowings Lease liabilities Total
f& HERE k]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2023 RZZ-=%—H—H (53,353) (101,029) (154,382)
Cash flows HenE (8,815) 23,185 14,370
Early termination of lease RIS = 1,283 1,283
Addition NE - (5,751) (5,751)
As at 31 December 2023 and R-E-=F+-A=1+—HK
1 January 2024 “Z-MFE—-H—H (62,168) (82,312) (144,480)
Cash flows Bene 11,713 26,124 37,837
Lease modification HEBY - 236 236
Early termination of lease RIS - 958 958
Addition NE - (11,032) (11,032)
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-ZMF+=-A=+—H (50,455) (66,026) (116,481)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. Related party transactions
Transactions for the year

(a) Key management compensation

Salaries and other short term
employee benefits

Pension costs — defined
contribution plans

(b) Rental payment to related parties

Rental paid to

a related company (note 1)
Rental paid to

a related company (note 2)
Rental paid to

a related party (note 3)

B B R W

30. BEALRS

FARS

(a) TEEEANSHH

2024 2023
—EME —ECo=F
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
Fe REMEIREEETR
17,563 17,215
BRIREKA-EREHEREE
108 108
17,671 17,323
(b) EHEEALZHHHEZ
2024 2023
—ECWE —Eo=F
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
SANE
—fERE AR (FiaE 1) 157 164
STNHEEE
—MEAE R (5T 2) 82 =
S AEEE
—{\7 88 AL (FisE 3) 49 -
)
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B B R W

30. Related party transactions (Continued) 30 BEALRZ @

Transactions for the year (Continued)

(b) Rental payment to related parties (Continued)

'] Notes:

1. The Group paid rental of a car licence to a company
controlled by Mr. Lai Guanglin, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, for a fixed sum of
RMB12,000 (equal to HK$13,100) per month as agreed
by both parties. This is also a connected transaction
which is exempted under the Listing Rules 14A.76.

2. The Group paid rental of office to a related company
for a fixed sum of RMB25,000 (equal to HK$27,300)
per month as agreed by both parties from 1 October
2024 to 31 December 2024. The directors of this related
company is Mr. Lai Bun Yick, who is the son of Mr.
Lai Fulin (executive director and the chairman of the
Company). They are the associate of the Company.

3. The Group paid rental of office to Mr. Lai Guanglin,
the controlling shareholder of the Company, for a fixed
sum of RMB15,000 (equal to HK$16,400) per month as
agreed by both parties from 1 July 2024 to 30 September

o 2024.

These connected transactions are exempted under Rule
14A.76 of the Listing Rules.

122 CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # Bl T 2 &£ B AR 2 7

FARS (#)
(b) FEIEFEALZHHEE ()

GER

1.

AEEREEBEER —MHBAX
RAZ R EBIAR L %
SRR HHREIRENET
FETEM12,000 A B (£
13,100 70) ° WR B INARE £
TR 14A. 7616 EA R M1 TR
ERS o

M-_ZE-_MFE+A—HBHEZZ
—ME+-A=1+—8 " K&EH
R AEHEBR —HAELF
YRNBEEFHENEABTEER
FA25,000 AR ¥ (5 5027,300/%
J0)  WEE A RIME SR B REH
EERRBZHITEERER)
2 FRRMINEE o AR A5
BAL-

H-_ZE-_NFEF+tA—BE-ZT
“HEAA=TE - AEERH
AREREBRARRZIERRE
BAFRCEINBES HENT
BETEB15000ARE (£R
16,400/ 7T) ©

BULBER S /RE LHHA

14A. 7615 MERERE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. Related party transactions (Continued)
Transactions for the year (Continued)

(c) Consultancy fees to related parties

Consultancy fee paid to a related
company (note)

Note:

On 3 April 2023, the Group entered into a consultancy
services agreement with a company directly wholly-owned
by Mr. Lai Guanglin (“Mr. Lai"), the controlling shareholder
of the Company, for a fixed sum of HK$373,000 per month
for one year from 3 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 ("Previous
Consultancy Services Agreement”). On 2 April 2024, the
Group entered into a new consultancy services agreement with
a company directly wholly-owned by Mr. Lai on substantially
the same terms as the Previous Consultancy Services
Agreement for the period from 2 April 2024 to 31 March
2025. The consulting service fee of HK$4,476,000 shall be in
12 installments payable monthly in arrears on the last Business
Day of each month. The consultancy services agreement was

terminated on 30 June 2024.

It constitutes continuing connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is subject to the
reporting, announcement and annual review requirements
but is exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

B B R W

30. BEALTRZ #®)

AN F—ERE R FIH
R E ()

FRRXZ (@)

() MEEEANLZTHERE
2024 2023
—E-ME ZEZ=F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET F&T
2,238 4,476

5T

R-ZT-_=ZFMA=H AEEHERE
AR AE ([FBEE]) (KRR 2 ERAR
%)Eﬁiéﬁﬁﬁz VNG RVA-=:

—=ZFMA=ZHAZE-Z-_MNF=A
:+ AAEH—% - & AREE373,000
o5 7T R ) 2 O B T AR 755 fhp ik ([ B ER RS
Rzl - R=ZE_UFMNA =R -
AEBEBLIEERZEREZ — Fﬁ
RARIMNHA-—T-_WNFNMA—HE=
—RF=A=1+— EﬁHFﬁZ%ﬁEﬁEEFEJH&
e o GRS RI R RIS R RR E A
EAEE - BRI ARTE & 4,476,000/ 7T
DR EBARE —EEEALMT -
EEFDEJE&%Tﬁg —{—@ﬁ/\ﬂ +E|
®ik -

RIBEETHRANEVIAZZIRE - A
BRARRZHERERS - RETLE
MRAEVIAZTT 2R - RERFE
FRIRRTE - HEEFA R E TS IR AL
ZIRE e
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30. Related party transactions (Continued)
Transactions for the year (Continued)

(d) Loan to a related company

On 1 August 2016, the Group advanced a loan of
USD10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$77,746,000) to
China Victory International Holdings Limited (“CVIL"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Agria Corporation, for a
term of 3 years.

The loan carried interest at 10.5% per annum and was
repayable by 31 July 2019. The loan was secured by the
entire issued shares of CVIL executed by Agria Group
Limited (“AGL"), the immediate holding company
of CVIL, and also guaranteed by a deed of corporate
guarantee executed by Agria Corporation in favour
of the Group. Mr. Lai Guanglin, a then director and
ultimate controlling party of the Company, is also a
controlling shareholder of Agria Corporation.

Pursuant to a resolution passed in a special general
meeting on 23 February 2018, the Group and CVIL
agreed to novate and AGL, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Agria Corporation and the immediate holding
company of CVIL, agreed to assume the Group's loan to
CVIL of USD10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$78,357,000)
with all other terms and conditions remained
unchanged.

On 9 May 2019, the Group entered into a loan
agreement (“2019 Loan Agreement”) with AGL to
renew the loan of USD10,000,000 and the annual caps
from 1 August 2019 to 31 July 2022.

Under the 2019 Loan Agreement, the clause of the
share mortgage executed by AGL, being the sole
shareholder of CVIL, over the entire issued shares of
CVIL in favour of the Group has been removed. Save
as the above amendments, all other terms of the 2019
Loan Agreement remain unchanged and continue in full
force and effect.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7

30. BEATRZ @)
FARS (&)

(d)

BT —EEERA

R—ZE—X"ENA—HB &%
BEmHTEBHBREEFR A A
([CVIL)) (Agria Corporation&)—
Me2EMBAR) BMEREIF
) EF10,000,000% T (HHER
77,746,000 7T) °

ZEFRAEL10.5%8 » BB
RZZE—NFEtA=+—HBZHA
B - ZEFACVILWEEIERA
A]Agria Group Limited[AGLJ 77
CVILB 2 BB AT EER &
Agria Corporation¥i 1T AR EB{E
NEEREL - NABERZES
REBEREHABHEREE - TR
Agria CorporationiEf& & 5 o

BER-_Z—N\F_A-_+=HH
THREFERRS FRBANRE
= KREENCVILREFEE MAGL
(Agria Corporationf) 2 &K B A
A MCVILB BB I AR]) A &R
£ EMCVILKYEFX10,000,000% 7T
(}857478,357,000870) * HABIF
A5 P o

R-Z—AFRANA  AEHE
AGLETL E % ([2019E 1
&) LABHTE(10,000,0005 7T
FFELFR BT —HhAFENA—
BE-_ZT-_—F+tA=+—Hl-

BIE2019E Xz - UAKE R
ZmA 0 BAGLOBCVILAME—RR
R)BECVILM 2 E BT/ H &L
R R D IR A R A 6K E MIBR -
B EaERTON - 2019E R
FrE M iR R A+
RN KRR °
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30. BEAXRG @)
FARS (#)
BT —[EEZE LA ()

30. Related party transactions (Continued)
Transactions for the year (Continued)

(d) Loan to a related company (Continued) (d)

On 21 July 2020, the Group and Agria Group Limited
(“AGL") agreed to enter into a supplemental loan
agreement (“2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement”)
to adjust downward the interest rate for each of the
interest period from ten point five per cent (10.5%) of
the Loan per annum to five point five per cent (5.5%)
of the Loan per annum.

The loan was also secured by a share charge which
executed by the AGL in favour of the Group as a
continuing security and continuing obligation for
performance by the AGL of its obligations in the 2019
Loan Agreement (as amended or supplemented by the
2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement). Pursuant to the
share charge, the AGL will charge 20% of its share
interests in Agria Asia Investments Limited (“AAIL")
to the Group. AAIL is a company with limited liability
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and is wholly-
owned by the Borrower.

AAIL is indirectly holding a share equity investment in
an agricultural enterprise in New Zealand through Agria
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (“Agria Singapore”), the only and
wholly-owned direct subsidiary of AAIL.

Save and except for the revision on the original interest
rate and the share charge by AGL, all other terms as set
out in the 2019 Loan Agreement remain unchanged.

Pursuant to a resolution passed in a special general
meeting on 12 August 2020, 2020 Supplemental Loan
Agreement was approved.

The annual caps of the maximum principal loan
outstanding for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
period ended 31 July 2022 were USD10,000,000 for
each year/period.

RZZE_ZTFLtA=-+—H F&
[E &2 Agria Group Limited ([AGLJ)
REY—H#ITERDH
(2020 FZERBZE]) BESFE
HEFEmER BEFNE+RTR
[£(10.5%) THREZEER 2 BFMX
hEAEG.5%)

ZERNBHAGLLAKREE AF A
FUWRMDBEIERE - UEA
AGLRETT2019E K i#:% (££20207%
FTERBEAETSHR) AEE
F2HERREFERMT - RE
A FRED © AGLE B E R Agria
Asia Investments Limited ([AAIL])
BI20% MR HE TAEE - AAILS—FE
REBER RSN LN ER
REIFAEBRAZEES -

AAILZE #8Agria (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
(TAgria Singapore] * AAAILKME
—RkEEEEMBAR) HERE
—EFAEREE QA ZRE

BRASETRRIE R AGLAE 2 15
5N - 2019 BRI HAHR AT
HAB BRI -

BER-_Z-_TFNA+_BHK
REFRIRKSRBARZEZR + 2020
FBREX W EDERE -

BE—_Z2_—F+-_A=+—HIt
FERBE-_T-__F+A=1—
HIEEAE  SEEE HEz&m
REEERASHEFELRHA
10,000,000 T °

|
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30. Related party transactions (Continued)
Transactions for the year (Continued)

(d) Loan to a related company (Continued)

The annual caps of the interest amounts for the period
from 1 January 2020 to 11 August 2020, period from
12 August 2020 (assumed the effective date of 2020
Supplemental Loan Agreement) to 31 December
2020, year ended 31 December 2021 and period
ended 31 July 2022 were USD645,000, USD214,000,
USD550,000 and USD320,000 respectively (“Annual
Caps”). The 2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement,
Annual Caps of the principal loan outstanding and
interest amounts were approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the Company’s special general meeting
on 12 August 2020.

As the loan and the annual caps of the aforesaid
continuing connected transaction expired on 31 July
2022, the Group entered into a new loan agreement
dated 22 April 2022 (“2022 Loan Agreement”) with
the AGL to renew the loan and the proposed annual
caps from 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2025. All terms as
set out in the 2022 Loan Agreement remain the same as
2020 Supplemental Loan Agreement.

The new annual caps of the interest amounts for
the financial period from 1 August 2022 (assumed
the effective date of 2022 Loan Agreement) to 31
December 2022, year ended 31 December 2023, year
ending 31 December 2024 and period from 1 January
2025 to 31 July 2025 were USD231,000, USD550,000,
USD552,000 and USD320,000 respectively (“New
Annual Caps”). The 2022 Loan Agreement, New
Annual Caps of the principal loan outstanding and
interest amounts were approved by the shareholders of
the Company at the Company’s special general meeting
on 8 July 2022.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7

30. BEATRZ @)
FARS (&)

(d)

BT —[EEZE LA ()

EE — 7 —= i )EJ HE— = _
EENA+T—H ZEZZEFN
A+=H (BR&EZHERA2020% 7T
ERmZEMBE E S -FF
+—A=+—HIHHE  —F=—
F+-A=t+—RBUIHEEREE_
E-__F+A=+—8I-HMH -
MECREFE RS R A645,000
ZEJT + 214,000 7T * 550,000
J0K% 320,000 7T ([FE ER]) o
AARIBREER-_ZE-_ZF)N\A
T AEITHREERIAE HiE
2020 E X% C ERASHE
RSS2 FE LR -

MR EMSFERER SHNERLF
ELrREEBEN S -_—_F+A
=t+—HE®  ~EEEAGLER]
VARAZZTE-—_FWA=-+=
EI H— DN ER B (20228
Kl AEFMERREZRTE
L@%ﬁ m:%::iﬂﬂ—
BREE—_E-_AFtA=+—H
1k e mng K 155 7k PTEL AT B 1R
L2020 T Bk I I N ©

M-ZE-_—FNA—H(R&EZH
BAE2022ER MR AR A ==
T —F+ - F=+— BN
M- Z==F+=-A=+—HLt
FE —ZE-NWF+=-A=+—H
HFEERA-_T-_RAF—A—HZ
—E_AFELA=+—HHH A
BESBEFE ERD51/231,000%
JC * 550,0003& ¢ * 552,000% ¢
%:.320,000E T ([¥rEE LR]) o
ARARIREER -_ZE-_—_F+A4
NARITHRERI A EiE
2022E X% - ERASERA
BEBEZHTELR -
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30. BEAXRG @)
FARS (#)
(d) EFT—[EREL &)

30. Related party transactions (Continued)
Transactions for the year (Continued)

(d) Loan to a related company (Continued)

As the value of the effective interest in shares is lower
than the outstanding indebtedness accrued under the
Loan Agreement, the company proposed to charge
further 9,650,871 shares, representing approximately
10% of entire issued shared capital of AAIL for
maintaining a better recoverability rate. AGL agreed
and confirmed the arrangement on 5 December 2024,
the share charge increased from 19,301,741 shares to
28,952,612 shares, representing approximately 30% of
the entire issued share capital of AAIL.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the interest
income from AGL amounted to approximately
USD550,000 (equivalent to HK$4,320,000) (2023:
USD550,000 (equivalent to HK$4,324,000)).

As at 31 December 2024, the loan to AGL amounted
to USD10,000,000 (equivalent to HK$77,956,000)
(31 December 2023: USD10,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$78,436,000)).

Note: For the purpose of calculation of the historical figures
and the Annual Caps, the Effective Date of the 2020
Supplemental Loan Agreement is assumed to be 12
August 2020, being the expected date of fulfillment of
the conditions precedent under the 2020 Supplemental
Loan Agreement.

Eiawwﬁmﬂﬂ%ﬁéﬁWz‘z%%mﬁ

EETHIRERER - AARIER
E FE 19,650,871 &kt - 48
ERAAILZ 2 BEITARZA4910% -
AR BUEREIULR o AGLIR2024
F12ASHEEBEWHERZLHE
f& R #EE#19,301, 741 g NZ=
28,952,612% + (FAAILZEE B1T
f&A4I30% ©

Hz—Z-_N&F+-_A=+—H1
F[E - EAGLATISHF BIMA K A
550,0003E 7T (485 7°4,320,000/%
7T) (ZZE - =% : 550,0003 7T (1/
£104,324,000%7T)) °

\_7_@¢+ A=+—8"

AT AGLAI£EE /410,000, ooo%m
(*HﬁﬁAW 956,000 L (=T ==
F+=-HA=-+—H :10,000,000%
7T (B2 1478,436,000/87T)) ©

Hiet: BtERSEERTE LR
BRE%2020f R BB as £ H
HE—_Z-_FTFENA+=-AH -
BI2020F /s Bk TR %
RAGIFER I TERRR B -

|
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B B R W

30. Related party transactions (Continued)

Transactions for the year (Continued)

(e) Loan to a director

(7

On 8 December 2022, Bun Kee (International) Limited
(“Bun Kee"), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, as lender entered into the loan agreement
with Mr. Lai Fulin (executive director and the chairman
of the Company), as borrower, pursuant to which Bun
Kee agreed to, among other things, provide a secured
loan of HK$5,000,000 to Mr. Lai Fulin for a fixed term
of 3 years from the date of drawdown and interest
payable was calculated at 6% per annum. The interest
shall be paid quarterly in arrears with the first interest
repayment date on 31 March 2023. The loan was fully
repaid on 19 April 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was
no interest income from loan to a director (2023:
HK$89,000).

Loan to a related party

Loan to a related party (note)

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7

30. BEATRZ @)
FARS (&)

(e)

()

BERT—REA L (D)

BEMTF—NEE

RZZEZZF+ZANB ' #iL
(BB BRAR(WRDIERBER
7 BARREMEEENB AR H
BREBTE (RRFZHITEER
EFRIERBBRAGILER B -
Bt WERE HFP R mEE
Bt AR —TH£ % /55,000,000
B BEMER - BIRIHHRE
FTEES=F RENFBIRERE
FEE6%FTHE - FEBEREZN &
fEeRAa-_E-_=—FE=A=+—
H-BREN_ZT-_=FmMA+AI
AE2HERE -

BE—_2-_WF+-_A=+—H1
FE TEERFNESHEN
FEUWA(ZE==4 : 89,000

JT) °

AT —BEAL

2024 2023
—E-E —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FETT FETT
5,000 -
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30. Related party transactions (Continued)

Transactions for the year (Continued)

(7

(9)

Loan to a related party (Continued)

Note:

On 21 February 2024, the Group advanced a loan of
HK$2,950,000 to a related party. The loan carries interest at
7% per annum and repayable by 21 February 2026.

On 24 April 2024, the Group and a related party enter into
a supplemental loan agreement to vary the original loan
principal amount from HK$2,950,000 to HK$5,000,000. The
loan was secured by personal guarantee from the controlling
shareholder of the Company, Mr. Lai Guanglin, the uncle of
the related party. Save as supplemented by the supplemental
loan agreement, all other terms, conditions and provision shall
remain unchanged.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, interest income

from loan to a related party amounted to approximately
HK$276,000.

Sales to a related company

B B R W

30. BEALTRZ #®)

FRR S ()
() E#RT—BEAL (M)
Hitt

RZZE-WFE-_A=-+—H  ~EAMR
—IBE A T2 —5%2,950,000% 7T
B UMFEBT%TEWER=_Z =N
F-AZ-+—HANEE -

R-ZZE-MFENA-+ME - AEHHE
FZABBA LRI LT ER D US
RERARSEEH2,950,0008 LB HE
5,000,000/ 7T  ZERHAARRA AER
AR - FBARREAE - BEATHALE
HEAEREET - REHAER B
FRFE&sN - A HMIEER - G RIE
SCHERSINEE o

HE-_T-_MNF+=-A=+—HLHF

& RERFTNEEALAENFE
U A#)5276,00058 7T °

(9) HETF—HBELA

2024 2023

—EBoNEF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Sales to a related company (notes) HE T —RERE AR () 368 664

Notes:

1. The sales to a related company was carried out at normal
commercial terms mutually agreed by both parties.

2. The directors of the controlling company of this related
company are Mr. Lai Guanglin and Mr. Lai Fulin. They are
the associate of the Company. This is also a connected
transaction which is exempted under the Listing Rules
14A.76.

Hiet -

1. HET MEEARRESRAE
Z—RRTI R IEETT »

2. WEEARNEZERARNEES
FBRRREERBERBELEE - A
RRBBEAL - WX BT RIR
& TG 14A. 7616 T EAR 1T
MBER S °
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ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Prepayments and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY
Equity holders
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Other payables

Taxation payable

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

31. Statement of financial position and reserve
movement of the Company

&E
FRBEE
iSEINEPNCIE &=

REBEE

TR R B EL A WK IR
JRE AP BB X A IR
A RASEED

HEE

R
BHEFEA
LN
G

HEs

a8fE

RBAE
HAb R
FETRIR

FEfS B R R 0R

HaE
HEZRAE
hRBEEFHE

Total assets less current liabilities B & E R R & &

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the board of Directors on 26 March 2025 and

was signed on its behalf:

Lai Fulin 3@/

Director %

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

31. RARMB MR R FEEEE

As at 31 December

R+=-A=+—~
2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
Note HK$°000 HK$°000
Kt FET FET
11 _
90,440 90,440
90,451 90,440
500 259
109,423 84,561
734 359
110,657 85,179
201,108 175,619
26,645 26,645
(1) 168,841 144,247
195,486 170,892
3,057 3,371
2,557 1,315
8 41
5,622 4,727
201,108 175,619
105,035 80,452
195,486 170,892

ARRNHMBEANREREZTEN T
“HF=ZA-TRBE#R URREF

TRE

(o]

Yu Ben Ansheng &1 &4
Director B%



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31. Statement of financial position and reserve

Note:

(0}

B B R W

31. ARAMBURA KRR FHELEB

movement of the Company (Continued) (&)
Reserve movement of the Company (i) ARAFEE2E
Contributed
Share surplus Accumulated
premium (note) deficits Total
BABH
REEE ZitER g
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$000
At 1 January 2023 RZZZ=#—-F-H 126,552 86,759 (84,611) 128,700
Profit for the year RERET - - 15,547 15,547
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZZ=#+-A=+-Ak
—E-ME-R—-H 126,552 86,759 (69,064) 144,247
Profit for the year REREHN - - 24,59 24,59
At 31 December 2024 R-B-ME+=A=1-A 126,552 86,759 (44,470) 168,841
Note: Bt -

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares issued by
the Company in exchange for all the issued ordinary shares of
World Trade Bun Kee (BVI) Ltd. and the value of net assets of
the underlying subsidiaries acquired by the Company in 2000.
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus is distributable to the shareholders, subject
to a solvency test. At the Group level, the contributed surplus
is reclassified into its component of reserves of the underlying
subsidiaries.

KRB ZBARBERTIHEARR B BRI
World Trade Bun Kee (BVI) Ltd. 2
BT EBRMEIT 2RO EERERA R
B EBNEB AR -_EETF
BEFEWNERAZZSE RIEERE
—NN—FREEEIER]) - AR
EREERENEEER IR ZBER
T AEDIR TR - EASEZRE
o BABBRETHEAEHENBAR
2 IEERERED -

|
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B SO B R M

32. Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of each director and the chief
executive for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 is set out below:

32. EEMNENER (REFE(D
BB (36622%F) 83831%K K&
(RRIRBESREER) RH)
(56622GE) R EB(LHARA
B R E T AE L Vi ER)

(a) EERTHEATZMS
BEERTRBENEEZE-_Z Y
FRZE=FF+ZA=+—HI
FENSEHINT

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-R-REt-RA=t-ALER
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FAEE(TARALAFENBATLR) RIERAT N IRRNHE

Discretionary Housing
Fees Salary bonuses allowance

Name of Directors ~ EZfi% ne e RiEta E

B2k

Hk$ 000 HK§000 Hk§ 000 HK§000

Emoluments

paid

or receivable

in respect

of director's

other service

in connection

Remunerations with the

paidor  management

Estimated ~ Employer's receivable  of the affairs

monetary contributions  in respect of of the
value of other toa accepting  Company or
benefits ~ retirement officeas it subsidiary

(note (i) henefit scheme director  undertaking Total
REEALRY

HEE ANELALE

AfERI ExH BRES NEHREMEM

EHEHEE EfEN  -BWxNY ESREmLN
Metm)  wEZER  BAKHE  SEMGEE 4%
HK§ 000 HK$000 HK§ 000 HK§000 HK§ 000

AT FET FAT FET 7T AT T AT TEL

Lai Fulin (note (i) REBOE() - 1,685 1,070 - 140 18 - 1,440 4353
Yu Ben Ansheng (note (i) @% 4 (F1zE (i) = 2,640 = - 140 18 = = 2,798
Lai Guanglin (note (i) FBAAR (3 (i) - 2,050 - - - 6 - - 2,056
Wong Yee Shuen, Wison A fz 150 - - - - - - - 150
Chen Wei Wen REX 100 - - - - - - - 100
Guan Zhigiang B4 150 - - - - - - - 150
Wang Chaolong e 150 - - - - - - - 150
Zheng Yang g% 6 - - - - - - - 6
556 6,375 1,070 - 20 Y] - 1,440 9,763

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

B O S 5 R M

32. EEMAENER (REFE(D
BIRBI) (55622F) 5£3831% K
(RRIBBESREER) RH)
(56622GE) R ER(LWHRA)
B E MAE H VIR ER) (@)

(a) EERITHRARME @&

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-E-CFT-ACt-ALFE
Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s semvices as a director, whether of the Company or s subsiciary undertaking
[ERES(TRRIANIENBAALS RERRA X NS RAMES
Emoluments
paid
or receivable
in respect
of director's
other senvice
in connection
Remunerations with the
paidor  management
Estimated Employer's receable  of the affairs
monetary  contributions  in respect of of the
value of other toa accepting ~ Company or
Discretionary Housing benefits retirement officeas  its subsidiary
Fegs Salary bonuses allowance (note () benefit scheme dector ~ undertaking Total
HERALTY
s EMEARLE
Bl EH RIEE HEHREEM
[ EHEE RUEH  BARAd EERETLN
Nemeof Directors ~~~ EZ}4 #e #e it BERH (M) cEZEX EAOME SRS 28
HKs$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T ThT Tk T T T T TR T
LaiFulin note () HBRE (i 0) - 1,620 757 - 140 18 - 1440 395
YuBen Ansheng AR (i)

(note () - 2,640 - - 140 18 - - 2,798
Wong Yee Shuen, Wikon E /5 150 - - - - - - - 150
Chen Wei Wen REX 100 - - - - - - - 100
Guan Zhigiang i 150 - - - - - - - 150
Wang Chaolong THE 149 - - - - - - - 149

549 4,260 157 - 280 36 - 1440 130
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B SO B R M

32. Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures 32. EENANEMER (BEFB(D

required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:
(i) Mr. Lai Fulin is the Chairman of the Company.

(i)~ Mr. Yu Ben Ansheng is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

(i) Mr. Lai Guanglin was appointed on 1 July 2024 and
resigned on 4 November 2024,

(iv)  Other benefits include share option and other allowance.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2023: Nil).

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available directors’ services (2023: Nil).

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

Save as above, there are no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealing arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors (2023: Nil).

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED " Bl E ¥ 5B HR 2 A

BIRBI) (58622F) 5E3831% K
(RRIRBESREER) RH)
(56622GE) R ER(LWHRA)
B9 E MAE H VIR ER) (@)

(a) EERITHRARME @

(i) FERBEERAARNERE -

ZHEEERARBNERRT

_
=
s

m}

(i) BHRELER-_Z_-_WNELA—
BEERR-_E-_MNE+—AMN
AEHE -

(v) E AT &5 R R E =
B

(b) ES=HRAKER

FR - BHEE B A EBGRIRE
MZTZ=F: 8\) -

() EEHRILER

FA - MEEFEINEERLE
E=RBEN(CE_=F 8 -

(d) BRREHEEREMOE=FIR
R EHE
RZBE_WF+—_A=+—HFE
A ANRRIADR B LR E = RS
MAE=AXNHNEE(CE=_=
F | o

() MEE - - FZEESELHME
AERBEZESENBEETRRE
MIWNER EERNEMRS
&R
BRESON  BEAESE « RZSE
EIRHIREAERRZESREE
FRAXSEAZER  EERE
MRG(ZEZ=5F : &) o n
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32. Benefits and interests of directors (disclosures
required by section 383 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits
of Directors) Regulation (Cap. 622G) and HK
Listing Rules) (Continued)

(f) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 30, there are no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Company’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2023: Nil).

33. Particulars of the principal subsidiaries

B O S 5 R M

32. EEMAENER (REFE(D
R GI) (3£622F) 3831 K
(RRIBBESREER) RH)
(%6622GE) R EB(LHARA
BV R E AL VK E) @)

(f) ESEXRS  REHEENE
KR

FRIIFE30FTHBRE SN - WMARER
NEEBMARRMEREF—FE
AARESREFR (THmEERH
B EEEAERE RAFFRHER
FAEMEE)NERRS « Z5F
FER(ZZEZ=F : |) -

33. XEMBLRAER

Percentage
ARt
Particulars of issued and fully paid Attributable Held by
Name Principal Activities share capital/registered capital to the Group subsidiaries
£ IERH ERTRBERE/ERHEA REEER WEARSE
Incorporated and operating in
Hong Kong

EBBAIREE
Bun Kee (International) Limited Trading of construction materials, 100 ordinary shares of HK$1 each and 100 100

mainly pipes and fittings in Hong 3,000,000 non-voting deferred shares

Kong of HK§1 each
W () ARAR REAGSREMH (FEREERE 100RBREE BT BBRRE

8% 3,000 000R ERAE BT L ERF

EELTRY

Hamerwind Logistic Company Limited Provision of warehousing and logistic 800 ordinary shares of HK$100 each 100 100

services in Hong Kong
BEMRERAR RERRERE KRR 800R B AREE 10072 SRk
Established and operating in Macao
ERFRIREE
Bun Kee Building Material and Equipment  Trading of construction materials, MOP50,000 100 100

(Macao) Co., Ltd. mainly pipes and fittings in Macao

Watk Rk (RF) AR AR REPRERENH (FEREERE 50,0000

8%

‘*L ‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies

34.1Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

()

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

Inter-company transactions in the Group, balances
and recognized gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and statement of
financial position respectively.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7

34. Hft S BERBE
341 REMRE REEERA

(i) HERA

MEBAREASREHEASR
ZHIERNE LB (RIEERE
X  EAEEEASH
7% X B8 T A 2 B] & O R e [
RXFAAE OB R
THENEBEHZEERN
BOZENFERE K&
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EEfgEEEAEE A
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HEARR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.1Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(ii)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognized in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognized in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share
of the amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where appropriate.

34, EM S BEREE @)

341 RERE REEERA (@)

(i) HEREZEE

REBER EIFERE R ETT
i 3 8 B Bk KR i 2 X
HREREEESEE AN
Ry BEREZZPENR
R AR e FR PR AR M A AR
EEZRNARE - ARBRE
R B ARz B -

FRIE AR s 2
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ZHIEXERFZE DML
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B REENE

ZAEMR

=
1=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.2 Separate financial statement

34, EM S BEREE @)

34.2 B BRI

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

34.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the Executive Directors
of the Company that make strategic decisions.

34.4 Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$ which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
revaluation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognized in the consolidated
income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

— income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

— all resulting exchange differences are
recognized in other comprehensive income.

B B R W

34, EM S BEREE @)

34.4 SN E ()
(i) XZR4EE

SINERXFRXFAHARE
Mt EMNEEERZERN
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RGRBRFREZERBEL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognized in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part
of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

CHINA PIPE GROUP LIMITED # i E X &S EER 2 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprising, leasehold
improvements, plant, machinery and equipment,
office furniture, fixtures and fittings, office equipment,
computer equipment and motor vehicles are stated
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
expenses are charged to the consolidated income
statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are
sold, it is group policy to transfer any amounts included
in other reserves in respect of those assets to retained
earnings.

B B R W

34, EM S BEREE @)

345 % - BMERRE

WE - BELRE(BEREEYME
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B SO B R M

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.6 Intangible assets

Trademark

Separately acquired trademark is shown at historical
cost. Trademark has a finite useful life and is carried
at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of trademark over their estimated useful life of 10
years.

Software

Software has a finite useful life and is carried at cost less
accumulated amortization. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
software over their estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.

34.7 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries

and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are
at least tested annually for impairment. Assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(i.e. CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.8 Financial assets

()

(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

—  those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through OCI or through profit or
loss), and

—  those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI.
For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognized on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are recognized when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies

(Continued)
34.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iiij) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’'s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

—  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognized directly in profit or loss and
presented in other gains/(losses) together
with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Summary of other accounting policies

(Continued)

34.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iiij) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognized in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognized, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized
in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognized in other gains/(losses).
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in other gains/(losses)
and impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the statement of profit
or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognized in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in
which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies

(Continued)

34.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iiij) Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognized in
profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognized in other gains/(losses) in
the statement of profit or loss as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment
losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in

fair value.

(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in

credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized
from initial recognition of the receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

Impairment on other receivables is measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase
in credit risk of a receivables has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses.

34.9 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, fixed bank deposits that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

34.10 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

34.11 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial
year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are
presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due
within 12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.12 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is
no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated
statement of financial position when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, canceled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income
or finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated
and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor
to extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity
swap), a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss,
which is measured as the difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair
value of the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies 34, H ST BEME @

(Continued)
30.13 FEE R A

34.13 Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

34.14 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets
and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at statement of financial position date
in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation and considers whether it is probable
that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or
the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of
the uncertainty.

EEREBNWE  FEERLEESE
REE(BUAR - BRREHERE
IMERTREMEREEZEE) W
—REBEEERAE - TIRIAZE
BEZRARN BEEEEARLEE
HHEBEFERERHEERL

WRERE AAFEEREEN
X HMERRHR B AR B
EEABMEMNMEMBERATN
B o

B fEERAEREZE AR
i

34.14 BDHA R IR RERE TE

HIAMSHA X RIERIERIES 7]
AR H)E B TS TR R IR AV R
AR AFER TR - MBRME
PEREEREZRERAPABHAER
FRIERIERER IR E ERA EEEH

%go

(i) RIRPF#E

EHMERX HIRBARR T
REMBAREEMERE
A RERR UL AR B R B 75
ARRARAEBRMAESE FE
BRI EPIGE - B
& oL 18 B B 1504 () R ¥ P AR
BR & 15 0L E HA AT £ Bt R 10
A WEERGEE RS
BREEREX T HEEN R R
B ARERBERAUENS
HMYAEHREEAEERIEAS
g BT ERITAR BT
FEORI N HEE ME RO AR OR T7 BT

;’_EO

|

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 # #

149



150

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies

(Continued)

34.14 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income

tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and

losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.14 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(ii) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

34.15 Employee benefits

()

(i)

Employee leaves

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are
recognised as a liability when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be
settled within twelve months and are measured at
the amounts expected to be paid when they are
settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Pension obligations

Following the adoption of the Mandatory
Provident Fund ("MPF"”) Scheme in December
2000, all employees of the Group employed in
Hong Kong joined the MPF Scheme. Under this
scheme, employees and the Group are required
to make contributions to the scheme calculated
at 5% of the individual employee’s monthly
basic salaries, subject to a cap of HK$1,500. The
Group's contributions to this scheme are expensed
when they are due. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

The Group’s employees in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") are covered by various
government sponsored pension plans. These
government agencies are responsible for the
pension liabilities to these employees. The relevant
group companies pay monthly contributions to
these pension plans based on certain percentages
of the salaries, subject to a certain ceiling.

The employees employed by the operations in
Macau are members of the government-managed
retirement benefits schemes operated by the
Macau government. The Macau operations are
required to pay a monthly fixed contribution to the
retirement benefits schemes to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefits schemes operated by
the Macau government is to make the required
contributions under the schemes.

Under these plans, the Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to make further payments
once the required contributions have been paid.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies 34, H ST BEME @

(Continued)
.15 EEER (47
(iv) URGRERZ 5

34.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iv) Share-based payment

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan, under which the entity
receives services from employees as considerations
for equity instruments (options) of the Group.
The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

e including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

e excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

e including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holding shares for a
specified period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each reporting period, the entity
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the income statement with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net
of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.15 Employee benefits (Continued)

34, EM S BEREE @)

M EEERNE)

(v) The Group operates defined benefit plan

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit asset
or liability, which comprise actuarial gains and
losses, return on plan assets excluding interest and
the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding
interest), are recognized immediately in OCI. The
net defined benefit asset or liability represents
the present value of defined benefit obligations
reduced by the fair value of plan assets, after
applying the asset ceiling test, where the net
defined benefit surplus is limited to the present
value of available refunds and reductions in future
contributions to the plan.

34.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has
been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.17 Related parties

For the purpose of these consolidated financial
statements, related party includes a person and entity as
defined below:

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control of the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.18 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

e the profit attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares, and

e by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

e the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.19 Leases

B B R W

34, EM S BEREE @)

M9HEE

The Group leases various office, warehouses, retail
shops and staff quarters. Property leases are typically
made for fixed periods of one to ten years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
various different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Leases are recognized as right-of-use assets and the
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the
respective leased asset is available for use by the Group.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit
or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

e  variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B R W

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.19 Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value in a similar economic environment
with similar terms and conditions. To determine
the incremental borrowing rate, the Group, where
possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

e any initial direct costs; and
e  restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are
recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

34. Summary of other accounting policies
(Continued)

34.20 Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognized in profit or loss as part of other income.
Interest income is presented as finance income where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is
included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently
become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction
of the loss allowance).

34.21 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of
the reporting period but not distributed at the end of
the reporting period.

3422 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property,
plant and equipment are included in non-current
liabilities as deferred income and are credited to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of
the related assets.
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Five-Year Financial Summary

T B

Restated Restated
KE K&
(note) (note)
(Ha) (Hist)
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—ECEF T ZE--F ZEBEZ=-F —ZE_NF
Results ¥E HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 = HK$000
FHET FAET FHET FET FET
Revenue A 497,295 682,187 636,535 714,129 783,502
Profit before income tax Gy bl 34,310 65,291 58,242 68,844 100,885
Tax expense IS (2,909) (9,324) (9,024) (10,454) (13,665)
Profit for the year KEZHF - = = 58,390 87,220
Profit for the year from RELEXB
continuing operation FEHEF 31,401 55,967 49,218 = -
(Loss)/profit for the period/ #% b2 8 %75 2 &
year from discontinued N FE
operation (E518) /& T (15,808) 348 = = =
Profit for the year NG A 15,593 56,315 49,218 58,390 87,220
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the RNABIESFTFEA
Company 20,841 56,424 49,218 58,390 87,220
Non-controlling interests ~ FF¥Ef& #EzE (5,248) (109) - - -
15,593 56,315 49,218 58,390 87,220
Assets and liabilities EERERE
Total assets BEE 816,557 901,633 902,372 950,129 1,036,836
Total liabilities FE=Li (254,646)  (278,529)  (230,701)  (220,348)  (219,795)
Total equity fatEm 561,911 623,104 671,671 729,781 817,041
Note: HiaE
The change in accounting policy for cost of inventory has been accounted FERASHBCRETEBMAR  WEZH4HE

for retrospectively and the comparative figures for the corresponding

comparative prior periods has been restated.
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